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• supporting the Board in ensuring that the concept of stakeholders and the need 
to protect minority interests are in the Board’s mind when important business 
decisions are being taken. 

 
 
The BCGO also acts as the secretary of the BAFC and BNRC and member of the 
Ethics Committee.  
 

 
2.14.5. Ethics Committee 

 
An Ethics Committee was created in 2008 to guarantee that the highest standards of 
business practices are upheld in the Sonae Indústria Group and to monitor the 
implementation of the new code of conduct. This Committee is also responsible for 
updating the Code whenever necessary. 
 
The Ethics Committee is chaired by an Independent Non-Executive Board Member 
elected by the Board of Directors while the Corporate Governance Officer and Internal 
Auditor are the other Committee members. The Ethics Committee reports at least once 
a year to the Board of Directors and when appropriate, also to the Statutory Audit 
Board of the related country, on issues related to corporate governance and business 
ethics. 
 
 
The current members of the Ethics Committee are: 

• Thomas Nystén (Chairman) 
• David Bain (Board and Corporate Governance Officer) 
• Rogério Ribeiro (Internal Auditor) 

 
 
A detailed description of the policy of communication irregularities is in the chapter 2.13 
of this report. 
 

3. Information 

 
3.1. Capital Structure 

 
Sonae Indústria’s share capital amounts to 700 million Euros and is represented by 
140 million ordinary nominal shares with a nominal value of 5 Euros per share.  All 
shares are listed on Euronext Lisbon. No limitations or restrictions are in place 
regarding the transfer of control or sale of shares. 
 

3.2. Qualified Shareholding under Article 20 of the Portuguese Securities 
Code 

 
Shareholder Number of shares % Share Capital % Voting Rights
Efanor Investimentos, SGPS, S.A
Directly 44.780.000 31,9857% 31,9857%
By Pareuro, BV (controlled by Efanor) 27.118.645 19,3705% 19,3705%
By Maria Margarida CarvalhaisTeixeira de Azevedo (Director of Efanor) 1.010 0,0007% 0,0007%
By Nuno Miguel Teixeira de Azevedo (Director of Efanor and held by descendent) 711 0,0005% 0,0005%
By Duarte Paulo Teixeira de Azevedo (Director of Efanor and held by descendent) 223 0,0002% 0,0002%
By Migracom, SGPS, SA (company controlled by Efanor's Director, Paulo Azevedo) 90.000 0,0643% 0,0643%
By Linhacom, SGPS, SA (company controlled by Efanor's Director, Cláudia Azevedo) 23.186 0,0166% 0,0166%

72.013.775 51,4384% 51,4384%  
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3.3. Identification of the shareholders that detain special rights and a 
description of those rights 

 
There are no Shareholders with special rights. 
 
 

3.4. Possible restrictions on share-transfer i.e. consent clauses for their 
disposal or restrictions on share-ownership 

 
There are no restrictions to the transfer of company shares. 
 

3.5. Shareholder agreements which the company may be aware of and 
which may restrict the transfer of securities or voting rights 

 
The company is unaware of the existence of a shareholders’ agreement and which 
may restrict the transfer of securities or voting rights. 
 
 

3.6. Rules applicable to the amendment of the Articles of Association 
 
The rules applicable to amendments of the Articles of Association are established by 
law. It is the task of the Shareholders’ General Meeting to decide on the amendment of 
the Articles of Association. However, the Board of Directors can decide to change the 
registered office within the national territory, as well as deliberate on increases in the 
Company’s share capital by new cash entries up to two billion Euros, on one or more 
occasions. 
 
 

3.7. Control mechanisms for a possible employee-shareholder system in 
as much as the voting rights are not directly exercised by them 

 
Control mechanisms for a possible employee-shareholder system, in as much as the 
voting rights are not directly exercised by them, are not planned. 
 
 

3.8. Share Price performance in 2009 
 
The share price performance of Sonae Indústria is particularly affected by crises and 
the recovery in economic activity, as the company operates in a highly cyclical sector, 
dependent on the construction industry and exposed to those economies most affected 
by the real estate crisis: Spain and North America. 
 
 
2008 was marked by a global drop in equity markets resulting from the deepening crisis 
of confidence prevailing within capital markets due to problems related to subprime 
mortgages. During this year Sonae Indústria’s share price declined from 6.65€ at the 
end of 2007 to 1.53€ at the end of 2008. 
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Volume Sonae Indústria PSI 20

31/12/09

2.575€

31/12/08

1.525€

12/10/09

Max. value: 2.824€

and 2,793,485 traded 

shares

09/03/09

Min. value: 1.2€

 
 
Over the course of 2009, Sonae Indústria’s share price recovered part of the sharp 
decline faced in 2008, appreciating 67% from 1.53€ at the end of 2008 to 2.58€ at the 
end of 2009. The minimum of the year was reached on 9th March 2009 (1.20 Euros) 
and the highest value on 12th October 2009 (2.824 Euros). 
 

Stock Market Indicators 2006 2007 2008 2009

Share Capital 700.000.000 700.000.000 700.000.000 700.000.000

Total number of shares 140.000.000 140.000.000 140.000.000 140.000.000

Net Results 32.311.969 78.612.713 -108.447.796 -58.782.190

Nets Results per share 0,23 0,56 -0,77 -0,42

Dividends per share* 0 0,28 0 0

Maximum Value 8,13 10,95 6,65 2,82

Minimum Value 5,43 6,65 1,51 1,20

Average Value 7,03 8,99 3,32 2,16

Share Price (31/12) 7,50 6,65 1,53 2,58

Market Capitalization (31/12) 1.050.000.000 931.000.000 213.500.000 360.500.000

Average daily transactions** 392.605 552.018 908.119 513.226

* distributed in the following year

** Average number of shares traded per day  
 
In terms of liquidity, the share has an average turnover of 513,226 shares daily and the 
highest value of 2,793,485 shares was reached on 12th October 2009. 
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� 16/01/2009: Spanboard Products Limited (Sonae Indústria subsidiary) enter
into negotiations with works council regarding the future of the operations at its
plant in Northern Ireland.

� 02/02/2009: Information on opening negotiations for the reorganisation of the
subsidiary, Isoroy, SAS

� 19/02/2009: FY08 consolidated results announced

� 06/05/2009: 1Q09 consolidated results announced

� 30/07/2009: 1H09 consolidated results announced

� 26/08/2009: Sale of af f iliated Taf isa Brasil

� 16/09/2009: Sale of af f iliated Ecociclo II - Energias, SA

� 05/11/2009: 9M09 consolidated results announced

MAIN EVENTS IN 2009

 
 
 

3.9. Dividend policy 
 
Every year, the actual pay-out ratio is proposed by the Board of Directors, considering 
the target pay-out ratio of 50% and the existing investment opportunities. In relation to 
2008, the Board of Directors proposed to the Shareholders’ General Meeting not to 
distribute dividends and to instead opt to strengthen its balance sheet following the 
significant deterioration in shareholders’ funds arising from 2008 losses. 

3.10. Share and Share Options Schemes 
 
Sonae Indústria does not currently award any remuneration or other compensation 
involving or linked to shares or share options. 
 
 

3.11. Transactions with Related Parties 
 
Sonae Indústria did not carry out any transactions with members of the Board of 
Directors nor with the Statutory Audit Board members.  
 
All transactions with holding or other related companies represent normal operational 
activity and were made under “open market” conditions and at prices that comply with 
transfer pricing regulations. 
 
The Statutory Audit Board of the company intends to establish over the course of the 
current year, the procedures and criteria for its intervention in the evaluation of 
business between the company and qualifying shareholders. 
 
 

3.12. Investor Relations 
 
Sonae Indústria has its own Investor Relations’ Department, responsible for managing 
the relationship between the Company and shareholders, investors, analysts and 
market authorities including the CMVM (the Portuguese Securities Exchange 
Regulator). 
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Each quarter, the Investor Relations’ Department is responsible for coordinating the 
preparation of an earnings announcement to be issued to the market and provides 
statements whenever necessary to disclose or clarify any relevant fact or event that 
could affect the share price.  The Investor Relations’ Department is available at all 
times to respond to any general questions posed by the market. The Company is 
available to meet with investors, either in roadshows or in one-to-one meetings upon 
request, or by participating at conferences. 
 
Sonae Indústria’s Investor Relations Department may be contacted by email at 
investor.relations@sonaeindustria.com or by telephone: 00 351 22 010 0638. The 
Investor Relations director is Patrícia Vieira Pinto. 
 
In addition, Sonae Indústria has an institutional website (www.sonaeindustria.com) 
that posts all earnings announcements, statements, reports and accounts together with 
any other public documents, press releases or general news items on a wide range of 
themes relating to the Company and Group. 
 
Sonae Indústria’s legal representative relations with equity market (“Representante 
para as Relações com o Mercado de capitais”) is Rui Correia, who can be contacted 
via the Investor Relations Department or alternatively, directly by email: 
rmcorreia@sonaeindustria.com. 
 
The Company’s website contains wide-ranging information in English, including the 
company’s name, the quality of publicly traded company, headquarters and other 
elements mentioned in Article 171 of the Companies Code. Further information relates 
to the Articles of Association, the identity of the governing bodies and representative 
relations with the equity market, Investor Relations Department, their duties and ways 
of access as well as documents of accountability. A corporate events calendar is also 
provided together with proposals for discussion and vote at the Shareholders’ Annual 
General Meeting and notice to convene the same meeting. 
 
 

3.13. Remuneration of the Statutory External Auditors 
 
In 2009, the statutory external auditor PriceWaterhouseCoopers invoiced Sonae 
Indústria and its affiliated companies a total amount of 881,619 Euros. Of this total, 
74% related to the audit and legal certification of the accounts and 15% to other 
reliability services while 11% related to services other than legal certification of the 
accounts.  
To safeguard external auditor independence, Sonae Indústria requires that all services 
except Audit are provided by different teams from those involved in the audit process. 
 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers has been the statutory external auditor of the company since 
the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting of 2006 and is in its second three year term. 
As such, Sonae Indústria has not taken any decision as yet regarding its rotation. 
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- Under regular economic circumstances, when there is a strong level of economic 

activity and demand, inflation tends to increase. Since nominal interest rates are a 

function of inflation and also because the European Central Bank (ECB) has as its 

main mission keeping price stability, it normally acts in order to relieve inflationary 

tensions by increasing interest rates. Opposite effects occur when there is a weak 

level of activity and demand, with low pressure on prices.  

 

- When activity and demand are strong in the Euro Area, Sonae Indústria tends to 

have superior economic performance and operating cash flow generation. On the 

other hand, when economic conditions are strong, ECB tends to increase interest 

rates in order to refrain demand and avoid price increases, which is reflected on 

higher net interest charges for Sonae Indústria, creating a natural hedge on “operating 

cash flow after net interest charges”. The same principle (with opposite signs) applies 

on economic downturn situations. 

 

- It is our understanding that, apart from the Euro interest rate, the same rationale 

applies to other interest rates to which Sonae Indústria is exposed such as the Pound 

Sterling and the Canadian Dollar, or to the South African Rand and Brazilian Real 

(while acknowledging that in emerging markets, interest rate behaviour is influenced 

by other effects not directly related with domestic economic conditions). 

 

As an exception to its general rule, Sonae Indústria may engage into interest rates 

derivatives. If this is the case, the following is observed: 

 

- Derivatives are not used for trading, profit making, or speculative purposes; 

 

- Group companies only engage in derivative transactions with Investment Grade 

Financial Institutions; 

 

- Derivatives match exact periods, settlement dates and base interest rate of the 

underlying exposures; 

 

- Maximum financial charges on the aggregate of the derivative and the underlying 

exposures are always known and limited on the inception of the hedging period; 

 

- Quotes from at least two Financial Institutions are considered before closing any 

interest rate hedging deal. 
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ii) Foreign Exchange Risk 

 

As a geographically diversified Group with subsidiaries located in four different 

continents, Sonae Indústria is exposed to foreign exchange risk. Consolidated 

Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss are is exposed to foreign exchange translation risk 

and Sonae Indústria subsidiaries’ are exposed to foreign exchange risk of both 

translation and transaction type. 

 

Foreign exchange risk relates to the possibility of registering gains or losses resulting 

from the change in exchange rates.  

 

Transaction risk arises when there is exchange risk related to a cash flow in other 

than a subsidiary local currency. Sonae Indústria subsidiaries cash flows are largely 

denominated in the subsidiary local currency. This is valid independently of the nature 

of the cash flows, i.e.: operating or financial, and provides a degree of natural 

currency hedging, reducing the Group’s transaction risk. In line this rationale, as a 

principle, Sonae Indústria’s subsidiaries financial debt is denominated in their local 

currency.  

 

As a Group rule, whenever possible and economically viable, subsidiaries aim to 

offset assets and liabilities denominated in the same foreign currency.  

 

Also as a rule, in situations where relevant exchange risk arises from trade in other 

than the subsidiary local currency, exchange risk should be mitigated through the use 

of short term forward exchange agreements performed by the subsidiary exposed to 

that risk. Sonae Indústria subsidiaries do not engage in forward exchange rate 

agreements with trading, speculative or profit making purposes. 

 

Translation risk arises from the fact that for each accounting period, the Financial 

Statements of the subsidiaries denominated in other than Euro local currencies, must 

be translated or converted into Euro in order to prepare the Consolidated Financial 

Statements of the Group. As exchange rates vary between periodical financial 

statements and the referred subsidiaries assets’ do not match their liabilities, volatility 

in the consolidated accounts arises as a result of conversion at different exchange 

rates. 

 

As a policy, translation risk in connection with the conversion of the Equity 

investments on foreign non Euro subsidiaries is not hedged as these are considered 

long-term investments and it is assumed that hedging will not add value in the long 

term. Gains and losses related to the translation at different exchange rates of Equity 
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investments in foreign non Euro subsidiaries are accounted under the Conversion 

Reserve, included in Other Reserves and Accumulated Earnings, on the Consolidated 

Balance Sheet. 

 

Some Sonae Indústria subsidiaries concede or receive intercompany funding on 

currencies other than their local currency. Whenever this happens, intercompany 

funding is always denominated in the currency of the other Group counterparty. It is 

Sonae Indústria policy to hedge systematically the outstanding amount of this 

intercompany funding in order to reduce volatility on subsidiaries (and consolidated) 

financial statements. This volatility arises from the fact that, there is no offset of the 

Exchange Rate gain or loss registered in the profit and loss of the Group counterparty 

with the intercompany asset or liability denominated in other than its local currency 

(gain or loss registered as a result of the change in value of its foreign currency 

intercompany asset or liability), on the side of the other Group counterparty (and as a 

result, on the Consolidated accounts).  

 

These intercompany loans hedges are done through forward exchange rate 

agreements, performed by the subsidiary exposed to the exchange rate risk and rolled 

over consistently on a semi-annual basis. Quotes from at least two Financial 

Institutions are considered before closing any of these foreign exchange hedging 

deals. These foreign exchange rate derivatives are also not used for trading, profit 

making, or speculative purposes. 

 

iii) Other Price Risks 

 

As at 31st December 2008, Sonae Indústria did not hold material investments 

classified as “available-for-sale”. 

 

c) Liquidity Risk Management Policy 

 

Group Liquidity risk management aims to ensure that the Group is able to timely obtain the 

financing required to properly carry on its business activities, implement its strategy, and 

meet its payment obligations when due, while avoiding the need of having to obtain funding 

under unfavourable terms. 

 

For this purpose, Liquidity management at the Group comprises: 

 

- Consistent financial planning and cash flow forecasting at country and consolidated levels 

with different time horizons (weekly, monthly, annual and business plan); 

- Diversification of financing sources; 
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- Diversification of the maturities of the debt issued in order to avoid excessive concentration 

of debt repayments in short periods of time; 

- Arrangement of committed (and uncommitted) credit facilities, commercial paper programs, 

and other facilities (such as a Securitization of Receivables program) with relationship 

banks, ensuring the right balance between satisfactory liquidity and adequate commitment 

fees; 

- Still aiming to mitigate the liquidity risk, it is Sonae Indústria’s policy not to accept in its 

financing contacts clauses related to fault in financial ratios that might lead to early 

repayment of funds. This policy takes into consideration the cyclical nature of the wood 

based panel industry, which directly impacts financial ratios across the economic cycle.  

 
3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND CORRECTION OF ERRORS 

 
During the period the Group began recognizing allowances of carbon dioxide as described in 

note 2.23. 

 

In accordance with International Accounting Standard 8, the Group restated the 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and the Consolidated Income Statement of 

2008 so as to include the effects of accounting for emission rights of carbon dioxide in that 

period. 

 

The introduction of this accounting policy affected the consolidated financial statements as 

follows: 

2009 2008

Intangible assets  733 747 2 902 671

Other current liabilities  594 393 2 291 485

Other operating revenues 1 761 645 3 242 294

Provisions and impairment losses  15 806  339 623

Other operating costs  778 018 2 291 485

Net profit/(loss) after taxation  967 821  611 186   
 

During the period the Group began classifying cash receipts and cash payments of amounts 

lent to third parties and cash receipts of interest and similar gains as financing activities in 

the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, which caused the flows of previous year to be 

restated. The Group understands that this presentation gives a more appropriate view of 

these cash flows on the grounds of their residual value in the context of the company’s 

financial activity. 

 

No correction of prior year’s errors was made. 
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4. GROUP COMPANIES INCLUDED IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Group companies included in the consolidated financial statements, their head offices and 

percentage of capital held by the Group as at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 

are as follows: 
 COMPANY HEAD OFFICE PERCENTAGE OF CAPITAL HELD 

 

TERMS FOR 

INCLUSION 

    31.12.08 31.12.07  

   Direct Total Direct Total  

 Agepan Eiweiler Management, GmbH Eiweiler (Germany) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Agepan Flooring Products, SARL Luxemburg 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Agloma Investimentos, SGPS, S. A. Maia (Portugal) 100,00% 98,90% 100,00% 98,82% a) 

 Agloma - Sociedade Industrial de Madeira Aglomerada, S.A. Oliveira do Hospital (Portugal) 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% a) 

 Aserraderos de Cuellar, S.A. Madrid (Spain) 100,00% 98,90% 100,00% 98,82% a) 

1) BHW Beeskow Holzwerkstoffe GmbH Meppen (Germany) 100,00% 98,78%   a) 

 Cia. de Industrias y Negocios, S.A. Madrid (Spain) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Darbo, SAS Linxe (France) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Ecociclo, Energia e Ambiente, S. A. Maia (Portugal) 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% a) 

2) Ecociclo II – Energias, S. A. Maia (Portugal) 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% a) 

3) Euro Decorative Boards Ltd. Knowsley (United Kingdom) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Euromegantic Lteé Lac Mégantic (Canada) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Euroresinas - Indústrias Quimicas, S.A. Maia (Portugal) 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% a) 

4) GHP Glunz Holzwerkstoffproduktions, GmbH Meppen (Germany) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Glunz AG Meppen (Germany) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Glunz Service GmbH Meppen (Germany) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Glunz UK Holdings, Ltd. Knowsley (United Kingdom) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Glunz UkA GmbH Meppen (Germany) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

5) Impaper Europe GmbH Meppen (Germany) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Imoplamac – Gestão de Imóveis, S. A. Maia (Portugal) 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% a) 

 Isoroy, SAS Rungis (France) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Maiequipa - Gestão Florestal, S.A. Maia (Portugal) 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% a) 

 Megantic B.V. Amsterdam (The Netherlands) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Movelpartes – Comp. para a Indústria do Mobiliário, S.A. Paredes (Portugal) 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% a) 

 OSB Deustchland Germany 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Poliface North America Baltimore (USA) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Racionalización y Manufacturas Florestales, S.A. Madrid (Spain) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 SCS Beheer, BV The Netherlands 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

6) Siaf – Soc. de Iniciativa e Aproveitamentos Florestais, S.A. Mangualde (Portugal) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Sociedade de Iniciativa e Aproveit. Florestais - Energias, S.A. Mangualde (Portugal) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Société Industrielle et Financière Isoroy Rungis (France) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

6) Somit – Imobiliária, S.A. Oliveira do Hospital (Portugal) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

7) SIND Shared Service Centre, S. A. Maia (Portugal) 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% a) 

 Sonae Indústria – Prod. e Comerc. Derivados Madeira, S. A. Mangualde (Portugal) 100,00% 98,82% 100,00% 98,82% a) 

 Sonae Indústria – Soc. Gestora de Participações Sociais, S.A. Maia (Portugal) PARENT PARENT PARENT PARENT PARENT 

 Sonae Indústria de Revestimentos, S.A. Maia (Portugal) 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% a) 

 Sonae Novobord  (Pty) Ltd Woodmead (South Africa) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Sonae Tafibra (UK) Ltd Knowsley (United Kingdom) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Sonae Tafibra International, B. V. Woerden (The Netherlands) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

8) Sonae Industria (UK), Limited Knowsley (United Kingdom) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Spanboard Products Ltd Belfast (United Kingdom) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Tableros de Fibras, S.A. Madrid (Spain) 98,42% 98,78% 98,42% 98,78% a) 

 Tableros Tradema, S.L. Madrid (Spain) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Tafiber, Tableros de Fibras Ibéricas, S.L. Madrid (Spain) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

9) Tafibra Polska Sp. z o. o. i. L Poznan (Poland) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Tafibra South Africa, Limited Woodmead (South Africa) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

10) Tafisa Brasil, S.A. Curitiba (Brazil) 100,00% 62,24% 100,00% 62,24% a) 

 Tafisa Canadá Societé en Commandite Lac Mégantic (Canada) 99,99% 98,78% 99,99% 98,78% a) 

 Tafisa France S.A.S. Rungis (France) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Tafisa U.K.Ltd. Knowsley (United Kingdom) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Taiber, Tableros Aglomerados Ibéricos, S.L. Madrid (Spain) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Tavapan, SA Tavannes (Switzerland) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 Tecnologias del Medio Ambiente, S.A. Barcelona (Spain) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 
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 Tool, GmbH Meppen (Germany) 100,00% 98,78% 100,00% 98,78% a) 

 

a) Majority of voting rights. 

1) Company incorporated 11/05/2009; 

2) Company sold 16/09/2009; 

3) Company liquidated 27/01/2009; 

4) Former GHP GmbH; 

5) Former Impaper Europe GmbH & Ko. KG; 

6) Somit – Imobiliária, SA merged into Sonae Indústria - Prod. e Comerc. Derivados Madeira, S. A., on 

31/07/2009. Thereafter, a Siaf – Soc. de Iniciativa e Aproveitamentos Florestais, S.A. changed its 

denomination to Somit – Imobiliária, S. A..; 

7) Former Sonae – Serviços de Gestão, S. A. 

8) Former Sonae (UK), Limited 

9) Former Hornitex Polska ; 

10) Company sold 26/08/2009. 

 

These group companies are consolidated using the full consolidation method as described in 

Note 2.2.a). 
 

5. JOINT VENTURES 

 
The joint ventures, their head offices, percentage of share capital held and balance sheet on 

31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 are as follows:  

 
 COMPANY HEAD OFFICE PERCENTAGE OF CAPITAL HELD 

 

   31.12.2009 31.12.2008 

   Direct Total Direct Total 

 Laminate Park GmbH & Co. KG Eiweiler (Germany) 50,00% 49,39% 50,00% 49,39% 

 Tarkett Agepan Laminate Flooring SCS Luxembourg 50,00% 49,39% 50,00% 49,39% 

 Tecmasa, Reciclados de  Andalucia, S. L. Alcalá de Guadaira (Spain) 50,00% 49,39% 50,00% 49,39% 

 

Joint venture companies have been consolidated using the proportionate consolidation 

method, as explained in note 2.2.b). 

 
Assets, liabilities, revenues and costs included proportionately in the consolidation, after 

elimination of intragroup balances and flows, are as follows: 

 
31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Non current assets 36 270 248 39 463 829
Current assets 9 622 895 18 367 063
Non current liabilities 2 267 500 3 266 000
Current liabilities 8 307 838 13 760 968
Operating revenues 35 253 586 52 313 587
Operating costs 43 494 819 64 238 025  
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6. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 

 

Associated companies, their head offices and the percentage of share capital held as at 31 

December 2009 and 31 December 2008 are as follows: 

 
 COMPANY HEAD OFFICE PERCENTAGE OF CAPITAL HELD 

   31.12.2009 31.12.2008 

   Direct Total Direct Total 

 Serradora Boix Barcelona (Spain) 31,25% 30,87% 31,25% 30,87% 

 Sonaegest Maia (Portugal) 20,00% 20,00% 20,00% 20,00% 

  

Associated companies are recognized in the consolidated financial statements using the 

equity method, as referred in Note 2.2.c). 

 

The aggregated assets, liabilities, operating revenues and net profit or loss of the associated 

companies accounted for through the equity method in these consolidated financial 

statements, are as follows: 

 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Assets 25 003 477 24 750 775
Liabilities 14 099 811 13 737 962
Operating revenues 30 263 025 33 299 458
Net Profit or loss - 197 624  576 870  

 

 

7. CHANGES TO THE CONSOLIDATION PERIMETER 

 

In 2009 the following changes occurred in the consolidation perimeter: 

 

Companies excluded in 2009: 
 COMPANY HEAD OFFICE % OF CAPITAL HELD AT 

LIQUIDATION DATE 

    

   Direct Total 

1) Ecociclo II – Energias, S. A. Maia (Portugal) 100.00% 100.00% 

2) Euro Decorative Boards Ltd. Knowsley (United Kingdom) 100.00% 98.78% 

3) Tafisa Brasil, S. A. Curitiba (Brazil) 100.00% 98.78% 

 

1) Company sold 16/09/2009; 

2) Company liquidated 27/01/2009; 
3) Company sold 26/08/2009. 
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Information related to the subsidiaries that ceased being controlled by the Group during the 

period, at the date control was lost, may be presented as follows: 

 
Tafisa Brasil Ecociclo II Total

Non current assets

Tangible assets 102 890 645 6 604 689 109 495 334
Deferred tax asset 19 784 150 19 784 150
Others 1 155 761 1 155 761

Total 123 830 556 6 604 689 130 435 245

Current assets

Inventories 14 718 089 14 718 089
Trade debtors 22 904 663 22 904 663
Cash and cash equivalents  843 371  1 397  844 768
Others 2 692 970  436 847 3 129 817

Total 41 159 093  438 244 41 597 337

Total assets 164 989 649 7 042 933 172 032 582  
Tafisa Brasil Ecociclo II Total

Non current liabilities

Loans  273 214  273 214
Deferred tax liability 19 061 216 19 061 216
Provisions 21 394 013 21 394 013
Others 59 689 012 59 689 012

Total 100 417 455 100 417 455

Current liabilities

Loans 18 186 727 18 186 727
Trade creditors 12 248 154  12 902 12 261 056
Others 9 701 337 7 543 758 17 245 095

Total 40 136 218 7 556 660 47 692 878

Total liabilities 140 553 673 7 556 660 148 110 333

Selling price 122 223 379  155 889 122 379 268

Total consideration received 116 176 252  155 889 116 332 141

Of which Cash and cash equivalents 116 176 252  155 889 116 332 141  
 

The difference between Tafisa Brasil’s selling price and the total consideration received 

relates to the amount of income tax withheld. 

 

The total consideration received in cash and cash equivalents for the sale of the subsidiaries 

referred to herein was included under cash receipts arising from investments, in the 

investment activities of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. 
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8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

In the Consolidated Balance Sheets at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, the 

following financial instruments are included:  

 
Assets at Assets

Loans fair value out of scope
and through Hedge Available-for-sale of 

receivables profit or loss derivatives assets Sub-total IFRS 7 Total

31.12.2009

Non current assets
Available for sale investments   300 702   300 702   300 702
Other non current assets  1 352 646        1 352 646   5 302  1 357 948

Current assets
Customers  163 348 206  163 348 206  163 348 206
Other current debtors  11 978 298  11 978 298   509 848  12 488 146
Other current assets     3 715 287     3 715 287  7 771 736  11 487 023
Cash and cash equivalents  34 328 941  34 328 941  34 328 941

Total  211 008 091  3 715 287      300 702  215 024 080  8 286 886  223 310 966

31.12.2008

Non current assets
Available for sale investments   389 763   389 763   389 763
Other non current assets  1 744 276        1 744 276   6 739  1 751 015

Current assets
Customers  199 825 603  199 825 603  199 825 603
Other current debtors  15 045 151  15 045 151   373 523  15 418 674
Other current assets     16 305 349   216 108  16 521 457  11 007 955  27 529 412
Cash and cash equivalents  65 750 257  65 750 257  65 750 257

Total  282 365 286  16 305 349   216 108   389 763  299 276 506  11 388 217  310 664 723

  
Liabilities at Liabilities

fair value Liabilities out of scope
through Hedge at amortized of 

profit or loss derivatives cost Sub-total IFRS 7 Total

31.12.2009

Non current liabilities
Bank loans - net of short term portion  215 964 021  215 964 021  215 964 021
Debentures - net of short term portion  301 912 691  301 912 691  301 912 691
Finance lease creditors - net of short term portion  43 725 783  43 725 783  43 725 783
Other loans  91 940 590  91 940 590  91 940 590
Other non current liabilities         499 492   499 492  65 290 759  65 790 251

Current assets
Bank loans  133 676 357  133 676 357  133 676 357
Finance lease creditors  3 919 801  3 919 801  3 919 801
Other loans   303 667   303 667   303 667
Trade creditors  154 737 066  154 737 066  154 737 066
Other current liabilities  9 273 881  1 904 353  10 872 577  22 050 811  79 652 696  101 703 507

Total  9 273 881  1 904 353  957 552 045  968 730 279  144 943 455 1 113 673 734

31.12.2008

Non current liabilities
Bank loans - net of short term portion  268 056 483  268 056 483  268 056 483
Debentures - net of short term portion  302 147 961  302 147 961  302 147 961
Finance lease creditors - net of short term portion  47 949 761  47 949 761  47 949 761
Other loans  148 419 100  148 419 100  148 419 100
Other non current liabilities   9 230      507 006   516 236  118 224 843  118 741 079

Current assets
Bank loans  105 577 761  105 577 761  105 577 761
Debentures  80 000 000  80 000 000  80 000 000
Finance lease creditors  3 535 578  3 535 578  3 535 578
Other loans   301 760   301 760   301 760
Trade creditors  165 920 462  165 920 462  165 920 462
Other current liabilities  6 244 352  1 168 770  12 148 686  19 561 808  97 419 485  116 981 293

Total  6 253 582  1 168 770 1 134 564 558 1 141 986 910  215 644 328 1 357 631 238  
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Assets and liabilities out of the scope of IFRS 7 consist essentially of accounts receivable 

from and payable to the State and the Group’s employees and items of accruals and 

deferrals. 

 

9. INVESTMENTS 

 
At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, details of Investments are as follows:  

 

Current Non current Current Non current
Investment in group companies excluded from consolidation

Opening balance 37 054 870 42 726 009
Acquisition
Disposal
Liquidation 5 671 139
Effect of equity method application
Currency translation effect
Closing balance 37 054 870 37 054 870

Accumulated impairment losses (Note 32) 36 990 037 36 990 037
Net investment in group companies excluded from consolidation  64 833  64 833

Investment in associated companies
Opening balance 3 010 855 3 349 392
Increase in share capital
Disposal  466 179
Effect of equity method application - 64 592  127 642
Changes in consolidation perimeter
Transfer
Currency translation effect
Closing balance 2 946 263 3 010 855

Accumulated impairment losses (Note 32)
Net investment in associated companies 2 946 263 3 010 855

Associated undertakings and non consolidated undertakings 3 011 096 3 075 688

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

 
 

 

 

Current Non current Current Non current
Available-for-sale investment

Opening balance  405 724 1 618 479
Acquisition  10 939   500
Disposal  100 000 1 201 021
Transfer
Currency translation effect - 12 234
Closing balance  316 663  405 724

Accumulated impairment losses (Note 32)  15 961  15 961
Net available-for-sale investment  300 702  389 763

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

 
 

 

Available-for-sale investment consists of financial undertakings which do not fulfil the criteria to be 

stated as subsidiaries excluded from consolidation or as associates. They are recognized at cost 

as no relevant difference to their fair value is estimated. 
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10. TANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

During 2009, movements in tangible assets, accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses were as follows: 

Land and Buildings
Plant and 
Machinery

Vehicles Tools
Fixtures and 

Fittings

Other 
Tangible 

Fixed Assets

Fixed Assets 
under 

construction

Total tangible 
assets

Gross cost:
Opening balance  510 091 054 1 967 649 522  17 485 141  18 197 906  47 819 463  17 392 643  46 228 957 2 624 864 686
Changes in consolidation perimeter - 44 800 452 - 135 066 406 - 1 168 081 -  258 527 - 3 376 901    - 9 555 074 - 194 225 441
Capital expenditure   4 205  1 287 582   25 185      111 758     24 667 409  26 096 139
Disposals  6 229 467  59 617 348  1 841 442   581 844  2 461 033   489 927   520 671  71 741 732
Transfers and reclassifications  4 081 754  39 098 847   575 715   705 085  1 155 728 - 1 006 804 - 39 715 503  4 894 822
Exchange rate effect  21 224 214  69 922 748   410 232   268 864  1 539 147   16 185   884 323  94 265 713
Closing balance  484 371 308 1 883 274 945  15 486 750  18 331 484  44 788 162  15 912 097  21 989 441 2 484 154 187

   

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses    
Opening balance  144 443 508 1 199 771 388  13 623 321  12 921 866  37 480 913  13 037 022  1 081 990 1 422 360 008
Changes in consolidation perimeter - 7 511 963 - 74 487 472 -  640 569 -  253 768 - 1 836 334       - 84 730 106
Depreciations for the period  10 985 903  99 884 973  1 466 385  1 760 401  3 430 529   761 744     118 289 935
Impairment losses for the period   5 026   902 863                  907 889
Disposals  5 620 222  59 614 434  1 662 093   560 385  2 420 770   489 927   378 282  70 746 113
Reversion of impairment losses for the period   58 977  4 294 401   15 785      17 382      705 982  5 092 527
Transfers and reclassifications   786 994 - 16 766 461 -  41 734 -   43    225 -  116 752    - 16 137 771
Exchange rate effect  3 180 614  31 208 792   257 419   202 899  1 081 243   2 219   2 274  35 935 460
Closing balance  146 210 883 1 176 605 248  12 986 944  14 070 970  37 718 424  13 194 306    1 400 786 775

  Carrying amount  338 160 425  706 669 697  2 499 806  4 260 514  7 069 738  2 717 791  21 989 441 1 083 367 412

31.12.2009

 
 

Land and 
Buildings

Plant and 
Machinery Vehicles Tools Fixtures and 

Fittings
Other Tangible 
Fixed Assets

Fixed Assets 
under construction

Total tangible 
assets

Gross cost:
Opening balance  508 325 762 1 921 191 719  17 022 449  17 600 545  51 438 613  16 136 514  151 571 086 2 683 286 688
Changes in consolidation perimeter - 1 912 172 - 4 936 288 -  3 081    -  74 860 -  854 609 -  22 603 - 7 803 613
Capital expenditure   25 141  2 281 262  1 379 291   1 795   395 901  1 405 353  103 625 265  109 114 008
Disposals  4 115 684  8 754 934  1 281 717   712 175  3 178 677   109 235 -  92 713  18 059 709
Transfers and reclassifications  39 704 664  156 112 981   921 219  1 774 496  1 464 360  1 033 355 - 200 812 431   198 644
Exchange rate effect - 31 936 657 - 98 245 218 -  553 020 -  466 755 - 2 225 874 -  218 735 - 8 225 073 - 141 871 332
Closing balance  510 091 054 1 967 649 522  17 485 141  18 197 906  47 819 463  17 392 643  46 228 957 2 624 864 686

   
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses    

Opening balance  136 425 360 1 127 046 966  13 695 673  11 676 984  37 986 721  13 290 189   343 447 1 340 465 340
Changes in consolidation perimeter -  861 383 - 3 422 758 -  3 081    -  45 513 -  838 087    - 5 170 822
Depreciations for the period  11 174 272  100 109 585  1 494 309  2 025 552  4 290 376   652 757     119 746 851
Impairment losses for the period  3 699 406  25 857 596   19 975      17 094      745 024  30 339 095
Disposals  1 080 275  5 427 057  1 231 061   389 577  3 097 634   60 559     11 286 163
Reversion of impairment losses for the perio      59 154                  59 154
Transfers and reclassifications             -  96 837       -  96 837
Exchange rate effect - 4 913 872 - 44 333 790 -  352 494 -  391 093 - 1 573 294 -  7 278 -  6 481 - 51 578 302
Closing balance  144 443 508 1 199 771 388  13 623 321  12 921 866  37 480 913  13 037 022  1 081 990 1 422 360 008

  Carrying amount  365 647 546  767 878 134  3 861 820  5 276 040  10 338 550  4 355 621  45 146 967 1 202 504 678

31.12.2008

 
 

 

During 2009 and 2008 no interest paid or any other financial charges were capitalized, in 

accordance with conditions defined in note 2.9. 

 

At 31 December 2009, mortgaged Land and buildings amounted to 23 440 000 euros (19 

132 500 euros at 31 December 2008) as a guarantee for bank loans.  

 

At 31 December 2009 and 2008, details of assets bought through financial leases were as 

follows: 



 

 32

31.12.2008

Gross cost:
Land and Buildings  33 176 682         141 912  33 318 594  33 176 682
Plant and Machinery  44 798 580           44 798 580  44 798 580
Vehicles  4 610 143       -  696 824  3 913 319  4 610 143
Tools                   
Fixtures and Fittings   6 123         35 291   41 414   6 123
Other tangible assets                   

 82 591 528       -  519 621  82 071 907  82 591 528

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses:
Land and Buildings  8 106 399      841 742   14 624  8 962 765  8 106 399
Plant and Machinery  9 518 552     2 988 146     12 506 698  9 518 552
Vehicles  3 200 642      513 379 -  691 775  3 022 246  3 200 642
Tools                   
Fixtures and Fittings -  10 269      3 370   16 551   9 652 -  10 269
Other tangible assets                   

 20 815 324     4 346 637 -  660 600  24 501 361  20 815 324

Carrying amount  61 776 204    - 4 346 637   140 979  57 570 546  61 776 204

Closing balance
Changes to 

consolidation 
perimeter

Other changes
Depreciations for 

the period
Closing 
balance

31.12.2009

Opening balance

  
 

 

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

During 2009, movements in intangible assets, accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses were as follows: 

 

Non internally 
generated

Non internally 
generated

Internally 
generated

Non internally 
generated

Non internally 
generated

Internally 
generated

Non internally 
generated

Internally 
generated

Non internally 
generated Total

Gross cost:
Opening balance   457 421  2 959 529  10 785 974  1 279 382  5 903 020  1 821 460  2 293 253  12 607 434  12 892 605  25 500 039
Changes in consolidation perimeter                               
Capital expenditure            7 792  1 660 484   39 145   800 639   39 145  2 468 915  2 508 060
Disposals   368 227   68 615   15 922   223 951  1 796 045         15 922  2 456 838  2 472 760
Transfers and reclassifications -  46 438     3 888 222  1 093 124 - 4 118 392 - 1 833 499 - 2 144 921  2 054 723 - 5 216 627 - 3 161 904
Exchange rate effect    993   5 633   375 241               375 241   6 626   381 867
Closing balance   43 749  2 896 547  15 033 515  2 156 347  1 649 067   27 106   948 971  15 060 621  7 694 681  22 755 302

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses

Opening balance   453 206  2 883 967  3 066 336   815 331  2 887 870        3 066 336  7 040 374  10 106 710
Changes in consolidation perimeter                               
Depreciations for the period   31 234   15 751  2 523 559   310 870           2 523 559   357 855  2 881 414
Impairment losses for the period               15 806            15 806   15 806
Disposals   398 071   68 614   2 764   223 951   339 623         2 764  1 030 259  1 033 023
Reversion of impairment losses for th                               
Transfers and reclassifications -  68 832      258 359 -  255 637 - 1 731 368         258 359 - 2 055 837 - 1 797 478
Exchange rate effect    993   5 433   129 220 -   30            129 220   6 396   135 616
Closing balance   18 530  2 836 537  5 974 710   646 583   832 685        5 974 710  4 334 335  10 309 045

  Carrying amount   25 219   60 010  9 058 805  1 509 764   816 382   27 106   948 971  9 085 911  3 360 346  12 446 257

2009

Development 
Costs

Patents, 
Royalties And 
Other Rights

Software
Other 

Intangible 
Assets

Assets Under Development Total intangible assets
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Non 
internally 
generated

Non internally 
generated

Internally 
generated

Non internally 
generated

Internally 
generated

Non internally 
generated

Internally 
generated

Published Restated Published Restated Published Restated

Gross cost:
Opening balance   452 792  4 038 343  4 996 766   770 634  2 653 037  2 653 037  3 608 142  1 979 464  8 604 908  9 894 270  9 894 270  18 499 178  18 499 178
Changes in consolidation perimeter                                  
Capital expenditure                    3 242 294  4 788 016   809 974  4 788 016   809 974  4 052 268  5 597 990  8 840 284
Disposals     1 068 180                    1 068 180  1 068 180  1 068 180  1 068 180
Transfers and reclassifications   5 964   13 256  6 094 182   508 748   7 689   7 689 - 6 342 448 -  496 185 -  248 266   39 472   39 472 -  208 794 -  208 794
Exchange rate effect -  1 335 -  23 890 -  304 974       -  232 250    -  537 224 -  25 225 -  25 225 -  562 449 -  562 449
Closing balance   457 421  2 959 529  10 785 974  1 279 382  2 660 726  5 903 020  1 821 460  2 293 253  12 607 434  9 650 311  12 892 605  22 257 745  25 500 039

Accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses

Opening balance   430 909  3 969 070   457 827   349 028  2 456 196  2 456 196         457 827  7 205 203  7 205 203  7 663 030  7 663 030
Changes in consolidation perimeter                                     
Depreciations for the period   24 083   6 344  2 559 970   465 276   92 051   92 051        2 559 970   587 754   587 754  3 147 724  3 147 724
Impairment losses for the period                  339 623               339 623      339 623
Disposals     1 068 186                    1 068 186  1 068 186  1 068 186  1 068 186
Reversion of impairment losses for the perio                                     
Transfers -   623 -   525   97 062   1 148            97 062         97 062   97 062
Exchange rate effect -  1 163 -  22 736 -  48 523 -   121          -  48 523 -  24 020 -  24 020 -  72 543 -  72 543
Closing balance   453 206  2 883 967  3 066 336   815 331  2 548 247  2 887 870        3 066 336  6 700 751  7 040 374  9 767 087  10 106 710

  Carrying amount   4 215   75 562  7 719 638   464 051   112 479  3 015 150  1 821 460  2 293 253  9 541 098  2 949 560  5 852 231  12 490 658  15 393 329

2008

Software
Patents, 

Royalties And 
Other Rights

Development 
Costs Assets Under Development

Non internally generated

Other Intangible Assets

Non internally generated Total

Total intangible assets

  

 

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 

During 2009, movements in investment properties, accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses were as follows: 

 

Cost Under constrution Total Cost Under constrution Total

Gross cost:
Opening balance  8 773 998     8 773 998  8 788 398     8 788 398

Changes to consolidation perimeter                   
Increase                   
Disposals  1 308 586     1 308 586   14 400      14 400
Transfers                      
Exchange rate effect                   
Closing balance  7 465 412     7 465 412  8 773 998     8 773 998

Accumulated depreciations and impairment 
losses:

Opening balance   659 023      659 023   518 366      518 366
Changes to consolidation perimeter                   
Charge for the period   140 656      140 656   140 656      140 656
Disposals                   
Transfers                   
Exchange rate effect          
Closing balance   799 679      799 679   659 022      659 022
Carrying amount  6 665 733     6 665 733  8 114 976     8 114 976

2009 2008

 
 

 

The estimated fair value of assets classified as investment properties amounted to 7 450 

000 euros at 31 December 2009, on the basis of market information. 

 
2009 2008

Rents from Investments Properties  94 582  109 054
Direct operating costs  71 473  469 855
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13. GOODWILL ARISING ON CONSOLIDATION 

 

During 2009 and 2008, movements in goodwill arising on consolidation, accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses were as follows: 

 

  2009   2008
Gross value:

Opening balance 103 811 638 100 086 856
Increases  522 109   11 571 386
Decreases 15 742 474 3 076 276
Currency translation 3 584 676   -4 770 328
Closing balance 92 175 949 103 811 638  

 

Decreases in Goodwill recognized in 2009 relate mostly to the sale of Tafisa Brasil, S. A.. 

 

Impairment tests carried out at 31 December 2009 consisted in determining the recoverable 

amount using the discounted cash flow method. Operating cash flows were projected over 

an eight-year period, thereafter extrapolated using a perpetuity and discounted to 31 

December 2009. Weighted Average Cost of Capital, before tax, calculated through CAPM 

(Capital Asset Pricing Model) methodology for each reportable segment, was used as 

discount rates. These rates include specific market features and include different risk factors 

as well as risk-free interest rates of ten year bonds of each segment. 

 

An eight-year period was used for projecting cash flows on the grounds of the extension and 

intensity of the economic cycles affecting the Group’s activity.  

 

Projected cash flows are based on the Group’s business plan and are updated annually so 

as to include changes in the economic outlook of each market where the Group is 

conducting business. 

 

Goodwill was allocated to the cash generating units, which correspond to the reportable 

segments. 

 

The Board of Directors believes that a reasonably possible change on the basic 

assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount would not cause the Goodwill to be 

impaired. 
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Goodwill 73,207,279 3,522,555 6,027,749 9,418,366

Discount rate (pre‐tax) 10.56% 9.76% 10.13% 16.60%

Growth Rate on Perpetuity 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Period 8 years 8 years 8 years 8 years

Test Conclusions No impairment No impairment No impairment No impairment

South AfricaFranceIberian Peninsula Germany

 
 

No impairment losses were recognized as a result of the tests carried out on the carrying 

amount of Goodwill as at 31 December 2009. 

 

 

14. DEFERRED TAXES 

 

At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 deferred tax assets and liabilities were 

detailed according to underlying temporary differences as follows: 

 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Harmonisation adjusments      56 222 609 59 897 966
Provisions not allowed for tax purposes 1 806 804 3 377 394      
Impairment of Assets 1 918 164 2 588 090
Derecognized intangible assets     600      
Derecognized tangible assets  127 146  186 174      
Derecognized deferred costs  116 750  177 647      
Valuation of hedging derivatives    108 820      
Revaluation of tangible assets       942 810 3 044 798
Tax losses carried forward 29 255 664 47 547 072      
Others  4 902     201 831 6 959 598

33 229 430 53 985 797  57 367 250 69 902 362

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities
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2009 2008 2009 2008

Opening balance 53 985 797 48 605 752  69 902 362 69 968 231

Impact on results:
Harmonisation adjusments     - 1 217 284 9 817 199
Changes in provisions not allowed for tax purposes  992 692 -  177 842      
Impairment of Assets -  753 261  504 928
Derecognized intangible assets -   600 -  3 947      
Derecognized tangible assets -  59 028 -  23 184
Derecognized deferred costs -  60 897 -  15 962      
Valuation of hedging derivatives -  65 919        
Revaluation of tangible assets     - 2 101 988 -  251 160
Tax losses carried forward - 5 875 671 9 658 708      
Others  4 681 -  18 952 -   615  761 723

- 5 818 004 9 923 748 - 3 319 887 10 327 762

Impact on reserves:
Currency translation effect 4 845 786 - 4 543 703  9 845 991 - 10 393 631

4 845 786 - 4 543 703  9 845 991 - 10 393 631
Impact of changes in the consolidation perimeter:

Acquisitions          
Disposals - 19 784 150   - 19 061 216   

- 19 784 150 - 19 061 216

Closing balance 33 229 430 53 985 797  57 367 250 69 902 362

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

 
 

  

In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards / International Accounting 

Standards, on a yearly basis the Group performs an evaluation of the deferred tax asset 

relating to tax losses carried forward that was accounted for in previous years. 

 

According to the estimation of taxable profit for the fiscal year 2009 and according to the tax 

return for the fiscal year 2008, tax losses carried forward and the corresponding deferred tax 

asset are detailed as follows: 

 

2009             
2010  1 306 772   168 293  5 987 562  1 496 486
2011   151 166   36 132   161 732   40 433
2012  32 972 000  8 243 000  28 279 760  7 069 940
2013             
2014  7 319 301  1 829 825  9 053 703  2 263 426
2015             
2016             
2017  5 740 083  1 722 025  12 406 750  3 722 025
2018  3 740 985  1 122 296  3 740 985  1 122 296
2019   53 271   15 981   53 271   15 981
2020             
2021  13 906 977  4 172 093  13 906 977  4 172 093
2022             
2023             
2024       
2028  6 224 992   709 649
2029  5 060 380   602 185

 70 250 935  17 911 831  79 815 732  20 612 329

Without time limit  35 812 734  11 343 835  98 602 904  26 934 743
Total  106 063 669  29 255 665  178 418 636  47 547 072

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Limit date to be used Tax loss carried 
forward

Deferred tax assetTax loss carried forward Deferred tax asset
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Furthermore, at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, tax losses for which no 

deferred tax assets were recognized, are detailed as follows: 

 

2007       
2009             
2010   56 492   14 123   56 788   14 197
2011    296    74       
2012  1 120 736   280 184  15 239 574  3 809 894
2013         36 422   9 106
2014  2 903 931   871 180  18 491 424  5 547 428
2015   36 775   11 033   36 775   11 033
2016  90 183 965  27 055 189  90 183 965  27 055 189
2017  58 961 872  17 688 562  66 975 963  20 092 789
2018  97 898 576  29 369 573  101 762 748  30 528 825
2019  8 004 570  2 401 371  9 095 614  2 728 684
2020  1 082 928   324 878  1 082 928   324 878
2021  5 509 212  1 652 764  19 416 189  5 824 857
2022   746 825   224 047   746 825   224 047
2023  47 719 111  14 315 733  20 424 468  6 127 340
2024  1 586 811   476 043

 315 812 100  94 684 754  343 549 683  102 298 267

Without time limit 1 068 171 764  322 745 391  841 744 931  256 787 469

Total 1 383 983 864  417 430 145 1 185 294 614  359 085 736

Limit date to be used Tax loss carried forward

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Tax credit Tax loss carried 
forward

Tax credit

 
 

Deferred tax assets are offset against deferred tax liabilities in situations where the company 

generating the related temporary differences is legally entitled to offset the recognized 

amounts and intends to settle on a net basis or else to realise the assets and settle the 

liability simultaneously.  

 

 

15. OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS 

 

At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 details of Other non current assets on the 

Consolidated Balance sheet were as follows: 

 

Gross Value Impairment Net Value Gross Value Impairment Net Value

Loans granted to associated companies 10 931 182 10 931 182   10 931 182 10 931 182   
Other loans granted             
Trade accounts receivable and other debtors 1 352 646   1 352 646 1 744 271   1 744 271

Financial Instruments 12 283 828 10 931 182 1 352 646 12 675 453 10 931 182 1 744 271

Tax recoverable             
Others  5 302  5 302  6 739  6 739

Assets out of scope of IFRS 7  5 302    5 302  6 739    6 739

Total 12 289 130 10 931 182 1 357 948 12 682 192 10 931 182 1 751 010

31.12.2009 31.12.2008
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31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Not due
 1 230 604  1 115 647

Due and not impaired

< 6 months    273   167 337
6 - 12 months -  21 656    136

> 1 year   143 425   461 151
  122 042   628 624

Due and impaired

< 6 months       
6 - 12 months       

> 1 year       
      

Total  1 352 646  1 744 271

AGEING OF NON CURRENT TRADE DEBTORS AND 
OTHER DEBTORS

 
 

 

16. INVENTORIES 

 

At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, details of Inventories on the Consolidated 

Balance Sheet were as follows: 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Merchandise 4 076 821 11 241 939
Finished and intermediate products 52 183 067 76 792 137
Products and working in progress 1 831 021 1 610 524
Raw Materials and Consumables 88 892 375 120 336 784

146 983 284 209 981 384
Accumulated impairment losses on inventories (Note 32) 13 044 254 17 098 955

133 939 030 192 882 429  
 

 

17. TRADE DEBTORS 

 

At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, details of Trade Debtors on the Consolidated 

Balance Sheet were as follows: 

 

Gross Value Impairment Net Value Gross Value Impairment Net Value

Trade Debtors 181 148 836 17 800 630 163 348 206 216 567 800 16 742 197 199 825 603

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

 
 

 



 

 39

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Not due 128 632 515 155 725 848
Due and not impaired

0 - 30 days 17 778 645 17 747 807
30 - 90 days 7 952 168 9 483 134
 ' + 90 days 5 035 020 5 773 798

30 765 833 33 004 739
Due and impaired

0 - 90 days  930 057 11 860 656
90 - 180 days 1 879 784 2 060 788

180 - 360 days 4 163 341 1 439 043
+ 360 days 14 777 306 12 476 726

21 750 488 27 837 213

Total 181 148 836 216 567 800  
 

 

18. OTHER CURRENT DEBTORS 

 

At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, details of Other current debtors on the 

Consolidated Balance Sheet were as follows: 

 

Gross Value Impairment Net Value Gross Value Impairment Net Value

Other debtors 11 806 811  19 628 11 787 183 14 658 608  19 628 14 638 980
Advances to trade creditors  181 882  181 882  388 730  388 730
Goup companies  9 233    9 233  17 441    17 441

Financial Instruments 11 997 926  19 628 11 978 298 15 064 779  19 628 15 045 151

Other debtors  509 848    509 848  373 523    373 523
Assets out of scope of IFRS 7  509 848    509 848  373 523    373 523

Total  12 507 774   19 628  12 488 146  15 438 302   19 628  15 418 674

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

 
 

 

 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Not due   456 575   125 791      309 298    563    564

Due and not impaired

    0 - 30 days  10 945 612  14 098 375   158 533   53 141   4 570   16 877
    30 - 90 days   154 957   99 726   7 374   8 039       
    + 90 days   230 039   334 716   15 975   18 252   4 100    

 11 330 608  14 532 817   181 881   79 432   8 670   16 877

Due and impaired

    0 - 90 days                   
    90 - 180 days                   
    180 - 360 days                   
    + 360 days   19 628                

  19 628                

Total  11 806 811  14 658 608   181 882   388 730   9 233   17 441

AGEING OF OTHER DEBTORS AGEING OF ADVANCES TO 
TRADE CREDITORS AGEING OF GROUP COMPANIES
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19. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

 

At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, details of Other current assets on the 

Consolidated Balance Sheet were as follows: 

Gross Value Impairment Net Value Gross Value Impairment Net Value

Derivatives instruments 3 715 287 3 715 287 16 521 457 16 521 457
Financial Instruments 3 715 287 3 715 287 16 521 457 16 521 457

Accrued revenue 2 182 992 2 182 992 5 441 863 5 441 863
Deferred Costs 5 582 183 5 582 183 5 535 277 5 535 277
Others  6 561 6 561 30 815 30 815

Assets out of scope of IFRS 7 7 771 736 7 771 736 11 007 955 11 007 955

Total 11 487 023  11 487 023 27 529 412   27 529 412

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

 
 

Existing cash flow hedging derivatives at 31 December 2009 will be reclassified to profit or 

loss during 2010, when it is estimated that the corresponding cash flows will materialize. 

 

 

20. STATE AND OTHER PUBLIC ENTITIES (CURRENT ASSETS) 

 

At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, details of State and Other Public Entities on 

the Consolidated Balance Sheet were as follows: 

 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

State and other public entities:
Income Tax 4 647 220 11 385 261
Value Added Tax 4 862 940 10 503 748
Social Security Contribution 53 702 90 016
Others 4 676 346 8 856 884

14 240 208 30 835 909  
 

 

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, the detail of Cash and Cash Equivalents was 

as follows: 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Cash at hand  75 522   98 186
Bank deposits 9 304 640  8 040 212
Treasury applications 24 948 779 57 611 859

Cash and cash equivalents on the balance sheet  34 328 941  65 750 257

Bank overdrafts  27 674 134  48 361 481
Cash and cash equivalents on the statement of 

cash flows  6 654 807  17 388 776
6 654 807 17 388 776  
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Bank overdrafts include credit balances on current accounts, and are included as Bank 

loans under current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet (note 24). 

 

At 31 December 2009, the item Treasury applications included the amount of 13 098 780 

euros (15 993 441 euros at 31 December 2008) which related to the securitization facility 

described on note 24.3. The item’s remaining amount was composed of several very short 

term treasury applications at banks, with low risk (bank risk) and returns aligned with existing 

market applications with similar maturity and risk profiles.  

 

 

22. SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS 

 

22.1. SHARE CAPITAL 

 

At 31 December 2009 and 2008, Sonae Indústria’s Share Capital was fully underwritten and 

paid and was comprised of 140 000 000 common shares, not entitled to fixed income, with a 

face value of 5 euros per share. At this date, neither the company nor any of its affiliates 

held any shares in the company. 

 

22.2. LEGAL RESERVE 

 

The caption Legal reserve includes the parent company’s reserve set up in accordance with 

articles 295 and 296 of the Company Law. 

 

22.3. OTHER RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED EARNINGS 

 
This caption includes: 

- Reserves set up by the parent company and the Group’s share of reserves set up by 

subsidiaries included in consolidation in accordance with statutory rules or by proposition of 

the respective Board of Directors, approved in the General Shareholders’ Meeting. 

- Prior years’ net profits or losses whose application was not done and current year’s net 

profit or loss; 

- Consolidation adjustments to any of the aforementioned components. 

 

22.4. OTHER ACCUMULATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 
This caption includes: 

- Currency translation reserves resulting from the conversion to Euros of subsidiaries’ 

financial statements which are expressed in a different functional currency; 
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- Hedging derivative instruments (note 25); 

- Consolidation adjustments to any of the aforementioned components. 

 

Sonae Indústria, SGPS, SA is included in the consolidation perimeter of its ultimate parent 

company, Efanor Investimentos, SGPS, SA. 

 

23. MINORITY INTERESTS 

 

Changes to this item during 2009 and 2008 were as follows: 

 

Published Restated

Opening balance 3 079 903 33 742 417  33 742 417
Decrease / (increase) in ownership percentage on consolidated companies - 36 492 529 - 36 492 529
Lost of control in subsidiaries -1 689 082
Change resulting from currency translation 1 116 150 1 651 803  1 651 803
Net profit for the period attributed to minority interests - 867 826 4 571 038  4 571 038
Restatement effect   7 212
Others  64 411 -  400 038 -  400 038
Closing balance 1 703 556 3 072 691 3 079 903

31.12.2008
31.12.2009

 
 

 

24. LOANS 

 

As at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 Sonae Indústria had the following 

outstanding loans: 

 

Current Non current Current Non current

Bank loans 133 676 357 215 964 021 133 676 357 215 964 021 1 473 420
Debentures  301 912 691  305 000 000
Obligations under finance leases 3 919 801 43 725 783 3 919 801 43 725 783 996 361
Other loans 303 667 91 940 590 303 667 91 940 590

Gross debt  137 899 825 653 543 085 137 899 825 656 630 394 2 469 781

Investment   
Cash and cash equivalent in balance sheet 34 328 941 34 328 941

Net debt  103 570 884  653 543 085  103 570 884  656 630 394  2 469 781

Total net debt

31.12.2009

 757 113 969  760 201 278

Fair value 
adjustment

Amortised cost Nominal value
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Current Non current Current Non current

Bank loans 105 577 761 268 056 483 105 577 761 268 056 483 970 201
Debentures 80 000 000 302 147 961 80 000 000 305 000 000
Obligations under finance leases 3 535 578 47 949 761 3 535 578 47 949 761 -1 242 400
Other loans 301 760 148 419 100 301 760 148 419 100

Gross debt  189 415 099 766 573 305 189 415 099 769 425 344 - 272 199

Investment   
Cash and cash equivalent in balance sheet 65 750 257 65 750 257

Net debt  123 664 842  766 573 305  123 664 841  769 425 344 -  272 199

Total net debt

31.12.2008

 890 238 147  893 090 185

Fair value 
adjustment

Amortised cost Nominal value

 
 

 

The average interest rates of each class of debt stated in the previous table were as follows: 

 

2009 2008

Bank loans 3.0930% 5.6570%

Debentures 3.2480% 5.7560%

Finance lease 10.0140% 10.4240%

Other 2.8030% 5.2870%  
 

Neither bank overdrafts nor bank loans denominated in Brazilian Reais were taken into 

consideration for the calculation of these average interest rates as the amounts were 

immaterial and information was not available, respectively. 

 

The column “Fair value adjustment” includes the adjustments which would have to be made 

if the corresponding items were to be stated at fair value. 

 

The aforementioned loans do not include loans granted by related parties. 

 

 

24.1. Bank Loans 

 

Bank loans presented in the table in note 24. include “Long Term Bank Loans – net of the 

Short Term portion”, “Short Term portion of Long Term Bank Loans”, and “Short Term Bank 

Loans” on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and their composition as at 31 

December 2009 are detailed in the following table:  
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Non current

Company Short term 
portion Short term Bank overdrafts

Sonae Indústria-SGPS,SA  153 579 546  84 886 364        238 465 910
Glunz AG  33 058 200  15 648 500     2 464 131  51 170 831
Sonae Novobord (Pty) Ltd  26 568 302  2 496 829     2 616 397  31 681 528
Taiber,Tableros Aglomerados Ibéricos,SL           9 288 392  9 288 392
Isoroy Casteljaloux           4 426 477  4 426 477
Sonae UK,Ltd.           2 642 573  2 642 573
Agepan Eiweiler Management GmbH        2 000 000   451 929  2 451 929
Tableros Tradema,S.L.  1 781 517   479 461      181 878  2 442 856
Sonae Ind., Prod. e Com.Deriv.Madeira,SA           1 391 691  1 391 691
Others   976 456   485 714   5 355  4 210 666  5 678 191

 215 964 021  103 996 868  2 005 355  27 674 134  349 640 378

Current
Total

31.12.2009

Bank loans

 
 

 

a) During 2002 and 2003, Glunz AG., contracted a loan with the European Investment Bank 

for 119 000 000 Euros (made up by two components). The loan pays interest semi-annually, 

indexed to a fixed rate of 3.64%, and will be redeemed in 16 consecutive and variable semi-

annual instalments, the first of which was made in June 2005. At 31 December 2009, 

outstanding principal was 48 706 700 euros. 

 

b) During the first half of 2005, a loan contracted in 2001 by Sonae SGPS SA with the 

European Investment Bank, of 50 000 000 Euros, was transferred to Sonae Indústria SGPS, 

SA. The loan pays interest quarterly, at market rates, and will be redeemed in 16 

consecutive semi-annual instalments. At 31 December 2009, the principal outstanding was 9 

375 000 euros; 

 

c) In January 2006 Sonae Indústria SGPS, S. A. contracted commercial paper with several 

financial institutions, subsequently amended on 19 March 2008. This programme has a 

maximum nominal amount of 190 000 000 euros and will mature on 27 January 2016. At 31 

December 2009, commercial paper issued amounted to 100 000 000 euros; 

 

d) In March 2008 Sonae Indústria SGPS, S. A. contracted a new commercial paper 

programme with a maximum nominal amount of 50 000 000 euros. The programme will 

mature on 25 March 2010. At 31 December 2009, commercial paper had been issued for the 

programme’s full amount; 

 

e) In September 2009 Sonae Indústria, SGPS, S. A. contracted a new commercial paper 

programme with a maximum nominal amount of 40 000 000 euros, which will be reduced 
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from 2011 to 2013. At 31 December 2009, commercial paper had been issued for the 

programme’s full amount;  

 

f) In February 2009 Sonae Indústria, SGPS, S. A. contracted a loan with a Portuguese 

financial institution for 20 000 000 euros. This loan pays interest at market rate and will be 

redeemed from 2009 to 2015. At 31 December 2009, outstanding principal amounted to 19 

090 910 euros. 

 

g) In October 2009 Sonae Indústria, SGPS, S. A. contracted a loan with a Portuguese 

financial institution for 20 000 000 euros. This loan pays interest at market rate and will be 

redeemed in 2011 and 2012. 

 

h) Sonae Novoboard raised ZAR 200 000 000 in debt from Firstrand Bank. The facility was 

issued at a fixed rate of 13.18%, interest is payable semi-annually, and principal is repaid in 

14 consecutive and variable instalments, the first of which occurred on 30 June 2003. At 31 

December 2009 this loan had been fully repaid; 

 

i) During the first half of 2007, Sonae Novobord together with Sonae Indústria, SGPS, S. A. 

contracted a loan with the European Investment Bank, denominated in ZAR, up to a 

maximum principal of 25 000 000 Euros. The loan pays interest at a market rate and will be 

redeemed in 14 consecutive and equal semi-annual instalments, the first of which will be 

made in September 2010. At 31 December 2009, outstanding principal was 23 174 919 

euros. 

 

j) During first half 2007 Sonae Novobord contracted a loan with International Finance 

Corporation (IFC) of 71 800 000 ZAR. The loan pays interest at a market rate and will be 

redeemed in 16 consecutive and equal semi-annual instalments, the first of which will be 

made in June 2009. At 31 December 2009, outstanding principal was 5 890 212 euros. 

 

k) Sonae UK signed a loan contract with the European Investment Bank for GBP 35 000 

000. This loan paid interest at market rates and was fully repaid on 15 July 2009; 

 

l) In 2000, Sonae Indústria – Produção e Comercialização de Derivados de Madeira, SA 

contracted a 27 000 000 euro loan with the European Investment Bank. The loan paid 

interest semi-annually in arrears, at a fixed rate of 3.16% and was fully repaid on 15 

December 2009. 
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24.2. Bond Issues 

 

a) Sonae Indústria 2004 bonds, issued on 15 October 2004, with a principal of 80 000 000 

euros to be paid in a single bullet payment 5 years after issue date. On 15 October these 

bonds were fully repaid. 

b) Sonae Indústria 2005/2013 bonds, issued on 31 March 2005, with a principal amount of 

55 000 000 euros, and a bullet repayment 8 years after issue date. Interest is paid semi-

annually in arrears on 31 March and 30 September;  

 

c) Sonae Indústria 2006/2014 bonds, issued on 28 March 2006, with a principal amount of 

50 000 000 euros and a bullet repayment 8 years after issue date. Interest is paid semi 

annually in arrears on 28 March and 28 September; 

 

d) Sonae Indústria 2006/2013 bonds, issued on 3 July 2006, with a principal amount of 50 

000 000 euros and a bullet repayment 7 years after issue date. Sonae Indústria may 

anticipate repayment, either partially or for the full amount of principal outstanding, at any 

interest payment date after July 2011, inclusive. Interest is paid semi-annually in arrears on 

3 January and 3 July; 

e) Sonae Indústria 2006/2014 bonds, issued on 2 August 2006, with a principal amount of 50 

000 000 euros and a bullet repayment 8 years after issue date. Interest is paid semi annually 

in arrears on 2 February and 2 August; 

 

f) Sonae Indústria 2008/2013 bonds, issued on 7 January 2008, with a principal amount of 

50 000 000 euros and a bullet repayment 5 years after issue date. Sonae Indústria may 

anticipate repayment, either partially or for the full amount of principal outstanding, at 6th 

coupon payment date (7 January 2011). Interest is paid semi-annually in arrears on 7 

January and 7 July; 

 

g) Sonae Indústria 2008/2012 bonds, issued on 28 April 2008, with a principal amount of 50 

000 000 euros and a bullet repayment 4 years after issue date. Interest is paid semi-annually 

in arrears on 28 April and 28 October. 
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24.3. Other Loans 

 

Other loans, as detailed in the table in note 24, are included in the Consolidated Statement 

of Financial Position, in “Other Loans” in Current Liabilities and Non-Current Liabilities, and 

had the following composition on 31 December 2009: 

 

Company Current

Securitization Others Others

Glunz AG  24 062 452   56 127
Sonae Ind., Prod. e Com.Deriv.Madeira,SA  20 290 440  2 302 832
Isoroy SAS  14 462 447
Tableros Tradema,S.L.  11 422 219
Sonae Tafibra Benelux, BV  10 228 851
Sonae UK,Ltd.  7 181 682
Spanboard Products,Ltd  1 989 668   7 594
Others      239 947

 89 637 758  2 302 832   303 667

Non current

31.12.2009

 
 

 

During 2004, Sonae Indústra SGPS SA together with its subsidiaries Soane Indústria – 

Produção e Comercialização de Madeira, S.A (then Sonae Tafibra – Gestão Comercial S.A), 

Tableros Tradema S.L (then Tafibra, Tableros Aglomerados e de Fibras, A.I.E), Isoroy S.A.S 

(then Isoroy Diffusion S.N.C.), Glunz AG, Sonae Tafibra International, B.V. (then Sonae 

Tafibra Benelux, B. V.), Sonae Industria (UK), Limited (then Sonae (UK), Limited) and 

Spanboard Products Limited, signed a Securitization facility of up to 120 000 000 euros, later 

increased to 150 000 000 euros (2006) and 175 000 000 (2007), and reduced to 125 000 

000 euros (2009) with ABN Amro Bank, NV and TAPCO – Tulip Asset Purchase Company 

BV. This facility, which initially matured in March 2009, was rescheduled to March 2012. At 

31 December 2009, principal outstanding was 89 637 758 euros (145 999 047 euros at 31 

December 2008). 

 

Trade debtors securitized for the amount of 117 656 697 euros (143 355 371 euros at 31 

December 2008) were kept on the consolidated balance sheet as the criteria set out in IAS 

39 for their derecognition were not fully met, namely the whole risks related to the securitized 

assets were not completely transferred. 
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24.4. Financial lease creditors 

 

Details of finance leases creditors at 31 December 2009 and at 31 December 2008 are as 

follows: 

 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

2009 8 674 278 3 535 578
2010 8 238 361 8 411 960 3 919 801 3 807 374
2011 8 028 139 8 170 473 3 989 740 3 915 257
2012 7 983 881 8 199 803 4 250 459 4 229 274
2013 7 907 096 8 130 679 4 508 070 4 536 945
2014 8 018 212 4 963 661

after 2014 (2013) 28 083 259 36 589 895 26 013 853 31 460 911
68 258 948 78 177 088 47 645 584 51 485 339

Lease creditors - current 3 919 801 3 535 578

Lease creditors - non current 43 725 783 47 949 761

Minimum
lease payments

Present value
of minimum lease payments

 
 

 

25. FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES 

The fair value of derivative instruments is stated as follows: 

 

31.12.09 31.12.08 31.12.09 31.12.08 31.12.09 31.12.08

Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss 3 715 287 16 305 348 9 273 881 6 244 352  9 230
     Exchange rate forwards 3 715 287 16 305 348 9 273 881 6 244 352
     Interest rate swaps (fair value hedge)  9 230
Derivatives at fair value through reserves  216 109 1 904 353 1 168 770
    Interest rate swaps (cash flow hedge)  216 109 1 904 353 1 168 770

3 715 287 16 521 457 11 178 234 7 413 122    9 230

Other non current liabilities 
(note 27)Other current assets (note 19)

Other current liabilities (note 
31)

 
 
 

Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss 

 

They consist of exchange rate derivatives (forwards) over which no hedge accounting was applied, 

and by interest rate derivatives (swaps) which consist in fair value hedges.  

 

The fair value of exchange rate forwards was determined using derivative valuation software and 

external appraisals when software do not allow some derivatives to be valued, and consisted in 

updating the receivable/payable amount at maturity date to the balance sheet date. 

Receivable/payable amount, which was used for valuing, corresponds to the amount denominated 

in foreign currency multiplied by the difference between the contracted exchange rate and the 
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market exchange rate at the maturity date that was determined at valuation date (forward 

exchange rate determined between valuation and maturity date, using market information). 

 

Determining the fair value of interest rate swaps that are fair value hedges follows the same 

process as interest rate swaps that are cash flow hedges. 

 

Gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value are stated under the item Adjustments to fair 

value of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (note 38), which corresponds to a 

net loss of 18 433 574 euros. 

 

Derivatives at fair value through reserves 

 

They consist of interest rate derivatives that are cash flow hedges. 

 

These interest rate hedging derivatives are valued at fair value, at balance sheet date, which is 

determined by the Group using derivative valuation software and external appraisals when 

software do not allow some derivatives to be valued. The fair value of these financial instruments is 

determined using the discounted cash flow method: zero coupon yield curves for the relevant 

periods are used for determining the respective variable forward rates and the discounting factors, 

which allow fixed leg cash flows and floating leg cash flows to be discounted. The sum of both 

permits the calculation of present fair value. 

 

Changes in the fair value of these financial instruments were recorded under Hedging Reserves, 

included in the caption Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income on the consolidated balance 

sheet, for the amount of – 348 443 euros.  

 

During the period, the amounts of 1 726 176 euros and 356 004 euros were reclassified from Other 

Comprehensive Income to Losses on valuation of hedging derivative instruments and Gains in 

valuation of hedging derivative instruments (note 38), respectively. 
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Interest rates used to determine zero coupon yield curves are as follows: 

Maturity dates
CAD GBP ZAR EUR

ON 1 day 0.240% 0.508% 9.258% 0.326%
1W 7 days 0.249% 0.510% 8.987% 0.362%
2W 15 days 0.267% 0.512% 8.546% 0.386%
3W 22 days 0.281% 0.514% 8.079% 0.408%
1M 1 month 0.296% 0.515% 7.404% 0.445%
2M 2 months 0.367% 0.539% 7.413% 0.550%
3M 3 months 0.466% 0.602% 7.504% 0.695%
4M 4 months 0.539% 0.684% 7.609% 0.790%
5M 5 months 0.621% 0.756% 7.730% 0.886%
6M 6 months 0.701% 0.834% 7.853% 0.996%
7M 7 months 0.802% 0.905% 7.924% 1.037%
8M 8 months 0.903% 0.973% 8.001% 1.083%
9M 9 months 1.004% 1.046% 8.067% 1.132%
10M 10 months 1.085% 1.107% 8.116% 1.172%
11M 11 months 1.166% 1.170% 8.165% 1.213%
1Y 1 year 1.256% 1.239% 8.209% 1.255%
2Y 2 years 1.543% 2.002% 7.780% 1.880%
3Y 3 years 2.131% 2.684% 8.320% 2.290%
4Y 4 years 2.586% 3.147% 8.649% 2.587%
5Y 5 years 2.926% 3.470% 8.879% 2.836%
6Y 6 years 3.209% 3.705% 9.039% 3.066%
7Y 7 years 3.446% 3.887% 9.136% 3.264%
8Y 8 years 3.660% 4.026% 9.195% 3.429%
9Y 9 years 3.856% 4.145% 9.212% 3.567%
10Y 10 years 4.065% 4.248% 9.199% 3.691%

2009
Rates

 

26. FINANCIAL RISKS 

 
The liquidity risk described on note 2.24., c), related to gross debt referred to in note 24, can be 

analysed as follows: 

Maturity of gross 
debt (note 24) Interest Total

2010 137 899 825 15 381 688 153 281 513

2011 92 236 736 14 716 840 106 953 576

2012 224 899 244 18 207 275 243 106 519

2013 188 688 236 10 433 176 199 121 412

2014 113 711 479 5 298 192 119 009 671

2015 10 430 123 3 115 473 13 545 596

After 2015 26 664 576 4 782 545 31 447 121

794 530 219 71 935 189 866 465 408
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The calculation of interest in the previous table was based on interest rates at 31 December 2009 

applicable to each item of debt. Gross debt maturing in 2010 includes scheduled repayment of debt 

along with the repayment of debt as at end 2009 maturing within less than one.  

 

The analysis of interest rate risk, described on note 2.24., b), i), consisted in calculating the way 

net profit before tax would have been impacted if there would have been a change of +0.75 or -

0.75 percentage points in actual interest rates of the corresponding period.  

 

Considering Euribor 6 months as a reference indicator for interest rates of Euro, a change of 0.75 

percentage points corresponds to 1,6 times the standard deviation of that variable in 2009. 

 

0.75% -0.75% 0.75% -0.75%

EUR -728 622 159 -4 770 581 4 770 581 -869 203 094 -4 867 321 4 867 321
GBP -9 170 078 - 80 183  80 183 -14 023 618 - 113 517  113 517
ZAR -29 063 848 - 175 730  175 730 -27 240 884 - 152 045  152 045

-766 856 085 -5 026 494 5 026 494 -910 467 596 -5 132 883 5 132 883

    
EUR 105 000 000  949 583 - 949 583 255 000 000  669 311 - 669 311
ZAR   - 11 981  11 981 5 008 562 - 26 297  26 297

105 000 000  937 602 - 937 602 260 008 562  643 014 - 643 014

    
EUR 26 375 021  121 440 - 121 440 44 183 441  146 352 - 146 352
ZAR       
BRL       13 934 946  181 466 - 181 466

26 375 021  121 440 - 121 440 58 118 387  327 818 - 327 818

-3 967 452 3 967 452 -4 162 051 4 162 051

Gross Debt excluding banks 
overdrafts

Treasury applications

"Notional" 
(Euros)

"Notional" 
(Euros)

Effect in Profit and Loss 
(Euros)

Financial Derivatives

Effect in Profit and Loss 
(Euros)

2008

Sensitivity Analysis

2009

 
 
With respect to exchange rate risk, described in note 2.24., b), ii), the following calculations were 

performed: 

 

1. Sensitivity analysis of amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of 

each company included in the consolidation, by considering a change of +1% and -1% in actual 

2009 and 2008 exchange rates. 

 

1.1. Loans net of treasury applications 

 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008
-1% 1% -1% 1%

CAD 91 027 091 100 434 904 60 171 638 59 085 854 - 601 716  601 716 - 590 859  590 859
GBP 24 915 326 21 668 910 28 054 657 22 749 539 - 280 547  280 547 - 227 495  227 495
ZAR 325 075 547 366 512 311 30 479 083 28 049 187 - 304 791  304 791 - 280 492  280 492

2009 2008

Sensitivity analysisAmount denominated in foreign 
currency Eur equivalent
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The remaining financial assets and liabilities do not include any amounts denominated in 

currencies other than the functional currency of the respective subsidiary which may represent any 

relevant exchange rate risks. 

 
 
2. Sensitivity analysis of existing derivatives to hedge the exchange rate risk set out in the previous 

point: 

 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

-1% 1% -1% 1%
CAD 91 462 632 103 847 243 60 459 543 61 106 853  604 595 - 604 595  611 069 - 611 069
GBP 23 601 331 22 106 219 26 575 099 21 637 834  265 751 - 265 751  216 378 - 216 378
ZAR 376 943 492 414 799 722 35 342 222 32 770 847  353 422 - 353 422  327 708 - 327 708

Sensitivity analysis

2009 2008

Amount denominated in foreign 
currency Eur equivalent

 
 
 
 
The credit risk described in note 2.24, a) is mostly reflected through the amount stated in Trade 

Debtors (nota 17). No relevant differences between the amounts recognized and the 

corresponding fair value were identified. 

 

 

27. OTHER NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 

At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, details of Other non current liabilities were as 

follows: 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Derivative instruments   9 230
Goup companies 72 604  72 604
Other creditors 426 888  434 401

Financial instruments 499 492  516 235

State and other public entities  44 122 456
Other creditors 65 290 759 74 102 387

Liabilities out of scope of IFRS 7 65 290 759 118 224 843

Total 65 790 251 118 741 078  
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31.12.2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 After 2014 Total

Maturity of Group Companies                  72 604   72 604

Maturity of Other non current creditors                  426 888   426 888

                 499 492   499 492

31.12.2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 After 2013 Total

Maturity of Group Companies                  72 604   72 604

Maturity of Other non current creditors   434 401                  434 401

  434 401               72 604   507 005  
 

At 31 December 2008, the item State and other public entities – Others included the owing 

amount of ICMS – Tax on Trade of Goods and Services Rendered to be paid by the 

subsidiary Tafisa Brasil in accordance with the terms of the agreement celebrated with the 

Government of the State of Paraná (Brazil), which considered postponing 90% of the 

payment of each parcel of tax for a twelve-year period, to be updated yearly according to 

10% of FCA index. 

 

Other creditors include 65 290 759 euros (74 102 387 euros at 31 December 2008) relating 

to deferred income-investment subventions. 

 
 

28. POST RETIREMENT LIABILITIES 

 

Various Group companies assumed the liability of giving their employees cash contributions 

to pension plans for old age, incapacity, early retirement, survival and post retirement 

medical care. These contributions are determined as a percentage that increases as a result 

of the number of years that the employee has worked at the company, and which is applied 

to a salary table that is negotiated on a yearly basis and correspond to defined benefits 

plans.    

 

Current liabilities associated with past years of service are evaluated every year through 

actuarial studies and based on the “Projected Unit Credit” methodology. Actuarial 

assumptions employed on the last study prepared at 31 December 2009 were: 

 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Mortality table
Richttafeln 

2005 G
Richttafeln 

2005 G
Richttafeln 

2005 G
Richttafeln 

2005 G
Richttafeln 

2005 G
Richttafeln 

2005 G
Richttafeln 

2005 G
Richttafeln 

2005 G
Salary growth rate 2,0% 2,00% 0,0% 0,00% 2,0% 0,00% 2,0% 2,0%
Return on fund 4,1% 4,10% 4,1% 4,10% 4,1% 4,10% 4,1% 4,1%
Actuarial tecnical rate 6,0% 5,60% 6,0% 5,60% 6,0% 5,6% 6,0% 5,6%
Pension growth rate 2,0% 1,50% 2,0% 1,50% 2,0% 1,50% 2,0% 1,5%

Impaper
Germany

Glunz AG GHP GmbH Tool GmbH
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31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Mortality table
PA(90) PA(90) INSEE 

2004-2006 TPG 1993 TV 88/90 TV 88/90

Salary growth rate 7,2% 7,10% 2,0% 2,0% 3,0% 3,0%
Return on fund 9,4% 8,60% - - 2,4% 6,0%
Actuarial tecnical rate 9,4% 8,60% 5,0% 5,25% 5,0% 4,0%
Pension growth rate 6,2% 6,10% 2,0% 2,0% 0,0% 0,0%
Medical cost trend rate 1,6% 1,4%

PortugalSouth Africa France

 
   

In previous periods, pension funds and provisions for pension liabilities were created by 

various companies within the Group in the following countries: 

 

South Africa: 

The employees of Sonae Novobord (PTY) have the following benefit scheme:  

 Defined contribution plan composed of a number of assets that are managed by a 

third party.  The Company is obliged to deliver the defined contributions. The 

amount of 422 272 euros was included in the item Staff expenses, on the 

Consolidated Income Statement, during the period. At 31 December 2009, no 

contributions were outstanding or unpaid.  

 

 Defined Benefit plan with a fund managed by a third party and calculated in 

accordance with International Accounting Standard 19 and based on actuarial 

studies performed by an independent party.  

Post-Retirement Health Benefit scheme under which the Company will provide for 

50% of eligible health expenses incurred after the employee’s retirement. 

 

In an actuarial study carried out on 31 December 2009, liabilities amounted to 49 

685 005 ZAR (4 658 466 euros) covered by the market value of the fund of 32 179 

000 ZAR (3 017 103 euros) and by a provision of 17 506 005 ZAR (1 641 363 

euros), which is recorded as a Pension Liability in Non Current Liabilities on the 

Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

 

Germany: 

Glunz AG has a defined benefit plan and it has constituted a fund. The plan is calculated 

according to International Accounting Standard 19, and based on actuarial studies 

carried out by an independent party. The company has recorded a provision for Pension 

Liabilities in Non Current Liabilities of 18 224 353 euros, which fully provides for the 

liabilities calculated by the actuarial study reported to 31 December 2009. On the same 

date, the value of the fund constituted at the end of the year was 369 615 euros. 

 

GHP GmbH has a defined benefit plan and it has constituted a fund. The plan is 

calculated according to International Accounting Standard 19. In an actuarial study dated 

31 December 2009, liabilities amounted to 1 428 390 euros and were covered by the 
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fund and by provisions for Pension Liabilities in Non Current Liabilities of 540 350 euros 

and 888 040 euros, respectively. 

 

Tool GmbH has a defined benefit plan and it has constituted a fund. The plan is 

calculated according to International Accounting Standard 19. In an actuarial report 

carried out at 31 December 2009, liabilities amounted to 304 207 euros and were 

covered by the fund and by provisions for Pension Liabilities in Non Current Liabilities of 

69 948 euros and 234 259 euros, respectively. 

 

Impaper Europe GmbH & Co. KG has a defined benefit plan and it has constituted a fund. 

The plan is calculated according to International Accounting Standard 19. In an actuarial 

report carried out at 31 December 2009, liabilities amounted to 168 622 euros and were 

covered by the fund and by provisions for Pension Liabilities in Non Current Liabilities of 

18 756 euros and 149 866 euros, respectively. 

 

France: 

Upon retirement of their employees, Isoroy SAS and Darbo SAS are obliged to pay a sum 

defined under the terms of the sector’s collective labour agreement. An actuarial study 

calculated the liabilities of the two companies on 31 December 2009 to be 1 398 281 

euros. This is fully covered by a provision that is recorded as a Pension Liability in Non 

Current Liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet 

 

Portugal: 

Various Group companies have a defined benefit plan and funds managed by third 

parties, calculated in accordance with International Accounting Standard 19 and based 

on actuarial studies carried out by independent parties.  Employees of eight companies 

hired until 31 December 1994 are covered by this plan under which they will receive as 

from retirement, a life long monthly payment equivalent to 20% of their salary at their 

retirement date. The liability for services provided as at 31 December 2009, based on an 

actuarial study on the same date, was calculated to be 3 890 462 euros. This was fully 

covered by the value of the fund and by a provision included as a Pension Liability in Non 

Current Liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, of 1 363 768 euros and 2 798 253 

euros, respectively. The provision was excessive by 271 559 euros. 

 

The main changes, during the periods ending 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, to 

the present value of the defined benefit obligations are presented below: 
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Plan with no 
fund

Plan with 
fund Total Plan with no 

fund
Plan with 

fund Total

Opening balance of defined benefit obligations' present value 2 105 233 27 545 959 29 651 192 2 358 378 27 031 668 29 390 046
Interest cost  139 711 1 771 303 1 911 014  116 894 1 409 311 1 526 205
Current service cost  70 216  617 362  687 578  65 135  901 482  966 617
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses - 21 471 - 882 202 - 903 673  25 724  334 311  360 035
Paid pensions  100 398 2 295 804 2 396 202  200 130 1 782 131 1 982 261
Curtailments  304 155  304 155
Exchange rate effect  106 585 1 093 467 1 200 052 - 117 356 - 444 851 - 562 207
Changes in consolidation perimeter       - 143 411  96 168 - 47 243

Closing balance of defined benefit obligations' present value 1 995 721 27 850 085 29 845 806 2 105 233 27 545 959 29 651 192

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

 
 

During the period the fair value of the plan assets changed as follows: 

 

31.12.2009

Opening balance of plan assets' fair value  4 689 776
Contribution to the plan assets   478 697
Expected return on plan assets   276 491
Paid pensions  1 003 589
Effect of asset transference    722
Actuarial gains/(losses)   349 386
Exchange rate effect   588 059

Closing balance of plan assets' fair value  5 379 542

 
 

At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, the amount of liabilities for defined benefits 

recognized in the consolidated balance sheet is detailed as follows: 

 
31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Present value of defined benefit obligations 29 845 804 29 651 192
Actuarial Losses/(Gains) not recognised - 596 593 - 282 843
Fair value of plan assets 5 379 542 4 689 776
Excess of provision  271 559
Defined benefit liability 25 334 414 25 244 259

 
 

The impact of these liabilities on the 2009 and 2008 Consolidated Income Statements is 

detailed as follows: 

 
31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Interest cost 1 860 078 1 526 205
Current service cost  621 287  966 617
(Increase) / Decrease in fair value of plan assets - 277 047 - 361 797
Recognized actuarial (Gains)/Losses - 618 786 - 83 458

1 585 532 2 047 568
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The sensitivity of the Health Benefit scheme’s obligations can be analysed as follows: 

 

- 1 pp Valuation 
base + 1 pp - 1 pp Valuation 

base + 1 pp

0,6% 1,6% 2,6% 0,4% 1,4% 2,4%

Service cost  8 813  7 126  5 907  24 566  19 821  16 301
Interest cost  63 569  55 787  49 130  67 346  56 479  47 984
Defined benefit obligation  678 635  597 439  528 056  779 152  655 250  558 133

2009 2008

 
 

 

 

29. TRADE CREDITORS 

 
At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, Trade creditors stated on the consolidated 

balance sheet showed the following maturities: 

 
 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

To be paid
    < 90 days  153 119 071  165 125 084
    90 - 180 days  1 514 478   555 839
    > 180 days   103 517   239 539

 154 737 066  165 920 462

MATURITY OF TRADE CREDITORS

 
 
 
 

30. STATE AND OTHER PUBLIC ENTITIES (CURRENT LIABILITIES) 

 

At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, State and other public entities had the 

following composition: 

 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

State and other public entities
Income Tax 2 487 579 4 745 839
Value Added Tax 3 037 640 2 176 219
Social Security Contribution 7 279 984 7 685 167
Others 497 682 1 700 009

13 302 885 16 307 234  
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31. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 

At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, Other current liabilities were composed of: 

 

 

Published Restated

Group companies  34 939  34 910  34 910
Derivatives 11 178 233 7 413 122 7 413 122
Trade debtors advances    643 804  643 804
Fixed assets suppliers 2 107 235 8 776 582 8 776 582
Other creditors 3 640 580 2 693 380 2 693 380

Financial instruments 16 960 987 19 561 798 19 561 798
Other creditors 5 089 835 7 842 207 7 842 207
Accrued expenses:
      Insurances  73 634  55 226  55 226
      Personnel costs 28 945 220 23 753 319 23 753 319
      Accrued financial expenses 3 387 049 9 137 782 9 137 782
      Rappel discounts (annual quantity discounts) 18 199 370 28 919 892 28 919 892
      External supplies and services 11 641 462 11 939 042 11 939 042
      Other accrued expenses 11 570 343 9 815 327 12 106 811
Deferred income:
      Investment subventions 5 835 336 5 891 717 5 891 717
      Other deferred income   271  64 973  64 973

Liabilities out of scope of IFRS 7 84 742 520 97 419 485 99 710 969

Total 101 703 507 116 981 283 119 272 767

31.12.200831.12.2009

 
 

 

 

31.12.2009     < 90 days     90 - 180 days     > 180 days Total

Maturity of current fixed assets' suppliers  2 060 238   27 970   19 027  2 107 235

Maturity of Other current creditors  2 729 030   442 948   468 602  3 640 580

 4 789 268   470 918   487 629  5 747 815
 

 
31.12.2008     < 90 dias     90 - 180 dias     > 180 dias Total

Maturity of current fixed assets' suppliers  8 680 131   37 763   58 688  8 776 582

Maturity of Other current creditors  1 303 677   23 866  1 365 837  2 693 380

 9 983 808   61 629  1 424 525  11 469 961
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32. PROVISIONS AND ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 

 

Movements occurred in provisions and accumulated impairment losses during the periods 

ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 were as follows: 

 

Opening Exchange Changes to Other Closing
Description balance rate effect perimeter Increase changes balance

Accumulated impairment losses on tangible assets (Note 10)  57 587 280   479 295      907 889  5 092 527 - 25 778 865  28 103 072
Accumulated impairment losses on intangible assets (Note 11)   358 865         15 806 -  339 623   35 048
Accumulated impairment losses on other non-current assets (Note 15)  10 931 182                 10 931 182
Accumulated impairment losses on trade debtors (Note 17)  16 742 196   505 810 -  168 842  8 524 055  4 344 368 - 3 458 221  17 800 630
Accumulated impairment losses on other debtors (Note 18)   19 629             -   1   19 628
      Subtotal impairment losses  85 639 152   985 105 -  168 842  9 447 750  9 436 895 - 29 576 710  56 889 560

Provisions for litigations in course  23 767 165  3 914 380 - 22 041 008  3 433 579  1 979 338  1 823 695  8 918 473
Provisions for  guaranties to customers   940 138 -   111      150 170   240 027      850 170
Provisions for restructuring  19 417 434   88 044     16 025 094  29 059 007  16 111 279  22 582 844
Other provisions  4 983 668 -   465     1 484 182   785 214 -  11 527  5 670 644
      Subtotal provisions  49 108 405  4 001 848 - 21 394 013  21 093 025  32 063 586  17 276 452  38 022 131

Subtotal impairment losses and provisions  134 747 557  4 986 953 - 21 562 855  30 540 775  41 500 481 - 12 300 258  94 911 691

Accumulated impairment losses on investments (Note 9)  37 005 998                 37 005 998
Accumulated impairment losses on inventories (Note 16)  17 098 955   470 163 - 1 677 647  9 437 331  11 096 351 - 1 188 197  13 044 254
        Total  188 852 510  5 457 116 - 23 240 502  39 978 106  52 596 832 - 13 488 455  144 961 943

2009
Utilizations/R

eversion

 
 

Opening Exchange Changes to Other Closing
Description balance rate effect perimeter Increase changes balance

Accumulated impairment losses on tangible assets (Note 10)  29 387 203 -  645 679     30 339 095   59 154 - 1 434 185  57 587 280
Accumulated impairment losses on intangible assets (Note 11)   19 242                  19 242
Accumulated impairment losses on other non-current assets (Note 15)  14 263 013             - 3 331 831  10 931 182
Accumulated impairment losses on trade debtors (Note 17)  16 719 680 -  585 981 -  370 413  5 114 009  3 425 777 -  709 322  16 742 196
Accumulated impairment losses on other debtors (Note 18)   442 506             -  422 877   19 629
      Subtotal impairment losses  60 831 645 - 1 231 660 -  370 413  35 453 105  3 484 931 - 5 898 215  85 299 529

Provisions for litigations in course  28 694 240 - 4 378 730     4 413 752  4 541 652 -  420 446  23 767 165
Provisions for  guaranties to customers  1 036 580   2 976      298 684   398 101      940 138
Provisions for onerous contracts   6 548    -  1 496      5 052       
Provisions for restructuring  10 094 000 -  250 836     12 933 482  6 054 956  2 695 744  19 417 434
Other provisions  5 993 171   1 985 -  396 118  2 481 939   399 767 - 2 697 543  4 983 669
      Subtotal provisions  45 824 539 - 4 624 605 -  397 614  20 127 857  11 399 527 -  422 245  49 108 405

Subtotal impairment losses and provisions  106 656 183 - 5 856 265 -  768 027  55 580 961  14 884 458 - 6 320 460  134 407 934

Accumulated impairment losses on investments (Note 9)  42 677 137             - 5 671 138  37 005 998
Accumulated impairment losses on inventories (Note 16)  12 588 275 -  602 043 -  102 851  12 649 774  7 434 200     17 098 955
        Total  161 921 595 - 6 458 308 -  870 878  68 230 735  22 318 658 - 11 991 598  188 512 888

Accumulated impairment losses on intangible assets (Note 11)
      Restated   19 242   339 623   358 865

2008
Utilizations/R

eversion

 
 

Impairment losses are offset against the corresponding asset on the Consolidated 

Statement of Financial Position. 

 

Increase and utilization of provisions and impairment losses are stated on the Consolidated 

Income Statement as follows: 

 

Losses Gains Losses Gains

Cost of sales  4 521 322  5 690 138  7 626 808  4 417 623
Other operating revenues  41 500 481  14 884 458

(Increase) / decrease in production  4 916 008  5 406 213  5 022 966  3 016 577
Provisions and impairment losses  30 540 776  55 580 961

Total  39 978 106  52 596 832  68 230 735  22 318 658

2009 2008
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Impairment losses 
 

During the period Sonae Indústria tested for impairment cash generating units undergoing 

restructuring in France and South Africa. These tests used the basic assumptions set out in 

note 13 and include the restructuring decisions taken in 2009, which reflects a change in the 

assumptions used in the tests carried out at the end of 2008. As a consequence, a partial 

reversion of the impairment losses recognized in the previous year was recognized and is 

included in column “Other changes” for the amount of approximately 16 million euros and in 

column “Utilizations”, for the amount of 2.3 million euros. 

 

In addition, a restructuring provision was recognized and included in column “Other 

changes” as the provisions of IAS 37 were met. 

 

Column “Other changes” also includes changes in impairment losses related to sale or write-

off of assets. 

 

Column “Utilization” includes reversion of impairment losses. 

 

 

Provisions 
 

At 31 December 2009 the amount of provisions is detailed as follows: 

 

• Provision for restructuring: the amount of 22.6 million euros relates mostly to the 

estimated costs with ongoing restructuring processes in France and Germany, 

namely staff expenses, disassembling of industrial facilities and environmental and 

landscape recovery of these sites. 

• Provision for litigations: it includes an estimation for investment subventions to be 

returned to governmental entities for the amount of 5.5 million euros and an 

estimation for compensation of former employees related to older restructuring 

processes for the amount of 1.8 million euros. 

• Other provisions: it includes the estimated amount of 2.9 million euros for 

environmental liabilities. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 61

33. OPERATING LEASES 

 
At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, the Group held irrevocable operating leases 

with the following lease payments: 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

2009  6 105 343
2010 5 118 340  3 747 755
2011 3 139 146  1 756 719
2012 1 390 801   539 943
2013  366 286   81 762
2014  148 439

After 2014 (2013)  448 593   23 860
 10 611 605  12 255 382

Minimun operating
lease payments

 
During the period the Group recognized in External suppliers and services, on the 

Consolidated Income Statement, rents related to operating leases without termination date 

for the amount of 1 596 371 euros, rents related to operating leases with defined termination 

date for the amount of 10 716 893 euros and rents related to operating leases terminating 

within a one-year period for the amount of 1 283 123 euros. 

 

34. RELATED PARTIES 

 

Balances and transactions with related parties may be summarized as follows: 

 
Balances

31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Parent company
Other subsidiaries of the parent company   965 600  1 584 421  2 299 086  3 664 534   5 008   14 051   3 879

Joint ventures   394 833  1 253 370   9 092   7 670

Loans
Obtained Granted

Accounts receivable Accounts payable

 
 

Transactions

31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Parent company   12 464   13 128
Other subsidiaries of the parent company  2 399 954  4 814 293  14 075 738  29 997 578   627 087   6 035   22 798

Joint ventures  1 450 631  5 660 464

 services rendered  services obtained Interest income Interest expenses
Sales and Purchases and

 
 

Remuneration of the Board of Directors of the Company is detailed as follows: 

 
31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Short term benefits 1 371 729 1 663 767
Long term benefits  115 583

1 487 312 1 663 767
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35. OTHER OPERATING REVENUES 

 

Details of Other operating revenues on the Consolidated Income Statement for the periods 

ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 are as follows: 

 

Published Restated

Gains on disposals of non current investments 85 902 002 4 141 587  4 141 587
Gains on disposals of tangible and intangible assets 3 495 407 46 734 915  46 734 915
Supplementary Revenue  7 745 093  8 354 048  8 354 048
Investment subventions  6 838 423  6 647 345  6 647 345
Tax received  5 444 273  4 889 155  4 889 155
Reversion of impairment losses  9 436 895  3 484 931  3 484 931
Gains on provisions  32 063 586  11 399 528  11 399 528
Others  10 860 437  28 688 923  31 931 217

 161 786 116  114 340 432  117 582 726

31.12.2008
31.12.2009

 
 

The item Gains on disposal of non current investments includes the amount of 84 million 

euros related to the sale of Tafisa Brasil, SA. This gain includes the amount reclassified from 

Translation reserve to profit or loss as stated on the Consolidated Statement of 

Comprehensive Income. This reclassified amount did not include the Translation reserve as 

at 1 January 2004, amounting to -49 026 743 euros, in accordance with the accounting 

policy stated on note 2.2., e). 

 

36. OTHER OPERATING COSTS 

 

Details of Other operating costs on the Consolidated Income Statement for 2009 and 2008 

are as follows: 

 

Published Restated

Taxes  7 255 087  9 522 769  9 522 769
Losses on disposal of non current investments     3 355 882  3 355 882
Losses on disposal of tangible and intangible assets  1 042 746  1 671 066  1 671 066
Others  5 412 320  8 373 537  10 665 022

 13 710 153  22 923 254  25 214 739

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

 
 

 

37. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES 
 

During the period the Group recognized in several items of the Consolidated Income 

Statement research and development expenses amounting to 1 711 222 euros (1 588 812 

euros in 2008). 
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38. FINANCIAL RESULTS 

 

Financial results for the periods ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 were as 

follows: 
31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Financial expenses:
Interest expenses

related to bank loans and overdrafts  6 898 006  2 317 273
related to non convertible debentures  8 670 764  18 462 648
related to finance leases  4 968 611  5 322 162
related to hedged loans (hedge derivatives)  4 437 291  8 606 977
others  5 870 079  19 310 413

 30 844 751  54 019 473
Losses in currency translation

related to customers  1 036 153  1 312 490
related to suppliers  1 571 806  3 000 339
related to loans  16 736 154  43 837 254
others   616 123  2 562 493

19 960 236  50 712 576

Cash discounts granted  15 140 727  20 151 228

Adjustment to fair value of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss  46 909 360  28 604 010
Losses on valuation of hedging derivative instruments  1 726 176    
Fair value of inefficient component of hedge derivatives       
Other finance losses  8 395 290  11 104 571

122 976 540  164 591 858  
Financial revenues:
Interest income

related to bank loans   36 662   240 698
related to loans to related parties   306 175   651 406
Others   514 465  5 323 068

 857 301  6 215 172
Gains in currency translation

related to customers   824 229  1 608 729
related to suppliers   875 601  2 760 289
related to loans  33 991 313  16 764 210
others  1 119 589   860 340

 36 810 732  21 993 568

Cash discounts obtained  2 013 221  3 224 157
Adjustment to fair value of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss  28 475 785  54 800 436
Gains in valuation of hedging derivative instruments   356 004    
Fair value of inefficient component of hedge derivatives       
Other finance gains   360 700   385 211

 68 873 743  86 618 544

Finance profit / (loss) - 54 102 797 - 77 973 314  
 

 

39. TAXES 

 

Corporate income tax accounted for in 2009 and 2008 is detailed as follows: 

 

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Current tax  1 194 025  2 530 753
Deferred tax  2 498 118   404 014

 3 692 143  2 934 767  
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Reconciliation of consolidated Earnings before taxes with taxes for the year may be detailed as 

follows:  
31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Consolidated net profit before tax -55 957 873 -100 941 991

Tax rate 25.00% 25.00%

Expectable tax at rate 25.0% -13 989 468 -24 458 476

Differences to foreign tax rates (+) -2 754 836 -9 471 100

Effect of provincial taxes (+)  171 781 -1 304 230

Consolidation adjustments (-) 30 373 110 -1 233 686

Permanent differences
  Non deductible costs (+) 3 794 052 21 940 331
  Non taxed profits (-) 19 886 085 20 594 975

Tax losses carried forward
   Recognized deferred tax asset (+) -1 273 815 -8 936 308
   Deferred tax asset not recognized (non compliance with IAS 12) (-) -59 187 810 -36 808 633
   Utilization of tax losses carried forward whose deferred tax was not recognized in prior periods (+) -2 538 069 -2 550 008
   Reverted deferred tax asset (+) 8 525 853 4 834 650

Effect of offsetting deferred tax liabilities related to depreciation (+) -1 087 647 3 494 645

Effect of change in tax rates   

Other deferred tax assets and liabilities not recognized (+) 4 390 866 3 875 202

Tax Credit for International Double Taxation (-)  215 525   

Others (+) - 259 664 -1 937 283

Consolidated corporate income tax 3 692 143 2 934 767

 
 

40. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

Earnings per share, excluding the effect of discontinued operations, were calculated as 

follows: 

Published Restated

Net Loss

Net loss considered to calculate base earnings per share 
(Net loss attributable to equity holders of SONAE Indústria) - 58 782 190 - 108 447 796 - 107 843 822

Effect of potential shares
     Interest related to convertible bonds (net of tax)

Net loss considered to calculate diluted earnings per share - 58 782 190 - 108 447 796 - 107 843 822

Number of shares

Weighted average number of shares used to calculate basic earnings
 per share  140 000 000  140 000 000  140 000 000

Effect of potential ordinary shares from convertible bonds

Weighted average number of shares used to calculate diluted earnings
 per share  140 000 000  140 000 000  140 000 000

31.12.200831.12.2009

  
 

During 2008 no significant profit or loss occurred relating to discontinued operations. 
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41. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

The main activity of the Group is the production of wood based panels and derivative 

products through industrial plants and commercial facilities located in Portugal, Spain, 

France, Germany, United Kingdom, Switzerland, The Netherlands, Canada, Brazil and 

South Africa 

 

In the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the period ended 31 December 2008, 

Sonae Indústria disclosed information on geographic segments in accordance with IAS 14. 

Segments were disclosed as follows: 

- Portugal 

- Spain 

- France 

- United Kingdom 

- Germany 

- Brazil 

- Canada 

- South Africa 

- Others 

 

For 2009 IFRS 8 replaces the aforementioned IAS 14. Under the new standard, segments to 

disclose are the ones included in the internal reporting system, whose information is revised 

by the chief operation decision maker and for which there is a segment manager, namely: 

- Iberian Peninsula; 

- Central Europe 

- France; 

- Germany; 

- United Kingdom; 

- Rest of the World 

- Canada; 

- Brazil; 

- South Africa 

- Other segments 

 

Non-reportable segments are now included in the item Other segments. 

 

Each reportable segment’s revenue results mostly from the production and sale of wood 

based panels and derivative products. 

 

Segmental information related to the Consolidated Income Statement is as follows: 
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Segments

Iberian Peninsula  7 046 773  11 087 226  311 981 859  420 544 475
Central Europe

France  43 347 106  83 992 427  109 796 081  179 500 240
Germany  119 857 612  146 695 860  356 667 395  486 156 689
United Kingdom     163 204 718     230 688 287  62 586 926  529 050 403  86 152 516  751 809 446

Rest of the world
Canada        112 619 841  110 777 922
Brazil        69 457 202  162 610 907
South Africa        80 838 049  262 915 091  88 880 406  362 269 234

All other segments  69 660 812  98 844 800  154 510 933  209 977 809
Total segments  239 912 303  340 620 314 1 258 458 287 1 744 600 964

Differences in classification  16 276 642  11 664 673
Adjustment to intragoup eliminations  2 628 660  1 714 959
Adjustments to the proportionate consolidation method  1 096 357    
Others  4 423 287  11 072 595

Total segments after adjustments 1 282 883 234 1 769 053 191

Turnover (Consolidated Income Statement) 1 282 883 234 1 769 053 191

Turnover
External

31.12.2009 31.12.2008
Intragroup

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

 
 

Segments

Iberian Peninsula  28 699 838  28 225 142
Central Europe

France  18 187 801  17 944 189
Germany  35 040 777  33 535 345
United Kingdom  5 998 905  59 227 483  6 642 836  58 122 370

Rest of the world
Canada  14 127 048  12 752 722
Brazil  5 628 780  10 060 828
South Africa  5 986 598  25 742 426  5 846 047  28 659 597

All other segments  10 401 811  7 959 220

Total segments  124 071 558  122 966 328

Adjustment to depreciation -2 388 778
Others -  370 773   68 903

Total segments after adjustments  121 312 007  123 035 231

Depreciations (Consolidated Income Statement) 121 312 007  123 035 231

31.12.2009 31.12.2008
Depreciations

 
 

Segments

Iberian Peninsula  4 258 281  5 740 349
Central Europe

France  2 945 453  24 921 907
Germany  18 858 249  15 935 350
United Kingdom   502 698  22 306 401  4 063 681  44 920 938

Rest of the world
Canada   41 512    
Brazil  1 367 503  1 983 915
South Africa  1 583 372  2 992 387  2 606 745  4 590 660

All other segments   983 707   329 014

Total segments  30 540 776  55 580 961

Provisions and impairment losses (Consolidated Income Statement) 30 540 776  55 580 961

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Provisions and impairment losses

 
 

 



 

 67

Segments

Iberian Peninsula  1 649 595   207 536
Central Europe

France  9 408 323  1 059 094
Germany  19 114 512  6 439 136
United Kingdom  1 347 888  29 870 724     7 498 230

Rest of the world
Canada       
Brazil   504 859  3 624 451
South Africa      504 859     3 624 451

All other segments   38 408   69 310

Total segments  32 063 586  11 399 527

Other operating profits (Consolidated Income Statement) 32 063 586  11 399 527

Utilization of provisions

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

 
 

 

Segments

Iberian Peninsula  2 242 757  1 465 612
Central Europe

France  1 392 640   531 044
Germany  2 372 636  1 023 571
United Kingdom   135 282  3 900 559   69 435  1 624 051

Rest of the world
Canada      1 762
Brazil   23 679   5 207
South Africa  2 339 321  2 362 999   109 324   116 293

All other segments   930 579   278 976

Total segments  9 436 895  3 484 931

Other operating profits (Consolidated Income Statement) 9 436 895  3 484 931

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Revertion of impairment losses

 
 

 

Segments

Iberian Peninsula  1 743 256  13 561 464
Central Europe

France - 68 179 099 - 30 088 599
Germany - 52 724 347 - 31 958 078
United Kingdom - 6 802 477 - 127 705 924 - 2 255 346 - 64 302 023

Rest of the world
Canada -  776 003  32 265 296
Brazil  6 782 436  30 821 495
South Africa  5 944 661  11 951 094  5 870 021  68 956 812

All other segments - 7 987 531 - 5 951 885

Total segments - 121 999 105  12 264 367

Companies excluded of management consolidation perimeter  1 871 062  1 776 784
Reversal of impairment losses  27 376 043    
Adjustment to depreciations  4 281 693  1 307 489
Non-recognized impairment losses    - 30 319 478
Non-recognized gains on sale of subsidiaries  84 975 346 - 4 768 022
Others  1 605 781 - 3 415 253

Total segments after adjustments - 1 889 179 - 23 154 113

Consolidated Income Statement (Consolidated income statement) - 1 889 179 - 23 154 113

31.12.2008

Operating profit or loss

31.12.2009
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Sales and Services Rendered in 2008 and 2007, based on geographic location of the 

external customers, were the following: 

 

Customers' country '000 Euros

Germany   384 450 30%
Spain   156 403 12%

France   115 615 9%
Portugal   107 355 8%

Brazil   64 431 5%
North America   112 737 9%

South Africa   80 894 6%
United Kingdon   58 522 5%

Others   202 477 16%

Total 1 282 883

2009

 
 

The internal reporting system of financial information does not include information on 

segmental assets and liabilities. Segmental non current assets, included under Tangible 

Assets, Intangible Assets, Goodwill, Investment Properties and Other Non Current Assets, in 

the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, are as follows: 

 

Segments

Iberian Peninsula
Portugal  94 241 806  109 517 631
Spain  206 039 867  300 281 673  222 871 481  332 389 112

Central Europe
France  157 787 388  152 202 297
Germany  336 757 387  361 881 681
United Kingdom  63 890 232  558 435 007  63 900 082  577 984 060

Rest of the world
Canada  175 021 017  168 612 229
Brazil     96 560 685
South Africa  87 838 893  262 859 910  73 032 942  338 205 856

All other segments  74 436 709  80 093 932

Total segments 1 196 013 299 1 328 672 960

Non current assets (Consolidated Statement of Financial Position) 1 196 013 299 1 328 672 960

Non current assets

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

 
 

Inter-segment transactions were executed at market prices and under identical conditions to 

those applied to third parties. 
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Segmental cash flows were as follows: 

 

Cash flows arising from: France Germany United Kingdom Brazil Canada South Africa

   Operating activities 81 512 691 -28 267 196 -11 223 846 3 966 684 5 775 968 16 596 425 16 041 993 - 955 961 -12 199 531 71 247 227
   Investment activities 35 556 201 -8 294 293 -6 864 083 -1 247 868 -3 689 506 -1 670 533 - 610 775 39 519 550 33 044 967 85 743 660
   Financing activities -118 402 212 36 924 718 23 325 173 -4 566 683 -17 826 527 -11 100 516 -15 158 737 -41 864 247 -20 845 436 -169 514 467
Change in Cash and Cash 
Equivalents -1 333 320  363 229 5 237 244 -1 847 867 -15 740 065 3 825 376  272 481 -3 300 658   -12 523 580

31.12.2009

Iberian 
Peninsula

Central Europe Rest f the world Other 
segments

Inter-segment 
eliminations Consolidated

 
 

Cash flows arising from: France Germany United Kingdom Brazil Canada South Africa

   Operating activities -4 148 644 -5 973 547 10 480 139 2 135 335 42 157 508 -21 272 194  60 781  695 824 57 358 660 81 493 862
   Investment activities 242 442 568 -2 871 395 -29 946 026 -1 386 301 -35 110 972 -37 623 149 -4 923 928 -1 182 888 -274 716 810 -145 318 901
   Financing activities -235 247 303 1 308 756 13 081 986 -5 977 925 -10 619 059 56 531 451  667 810 - 439 477 217 358 150 36 664 389

Change in Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 3 046 621 -7 536 186 -6 383 901 -5 228 891 -3 572 523 -2 363 892 -4 195 337 - 926 541 -27 160 650

31.12.2008

Iberian 
Peninsula

Central Europe Rest f the world Other 
segments

Inter-segment 
eliminations Consolidated

 
 

Cash flows arising from: France Germany United Kingdom Brazil Canada South Africa

   Operating activities -4 148 644 -5 973 547 10 480 139 2 135 335 42 157 508 -21 272 194  60 781  695 824 57 358 660 81 493 862
   Investment activities 33 176 328 -2 894 556 -30 007 300 -1 441 585 -38 605 851 -37 709 307 -5 026 412 - 35 606 -67 312 781 -149 857 070
   Financing activities -25 981 063 1 331 917 13 143 260 -5 922 641 -7 124 180 56 617 609  770 294 -1 586 759 9 954 121 41 202 558
Change in Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 3 046 621 -7 536 186 -6 383 901 -5 228 891 -3 572 523 -2 363 892 -4 195 337 - 926 541   -27 160 650

Inter-segment 
eliminations Consolidated

Restated
31.12.2008

Iberian 
Peninsula

Central Europe Rest f the world Other 
segments

 
 

 

42. CONTINGENCIES 
 

In March 2009, Glunz AG, GHP Gmbh and other wood based panel producers in Germany 

were subject to inspections carried out by the German Competition Authority. The 

investigations are at a fact-finding stage only and no formal allegations have been made 

against our Companies or any of their employees. According to the information available at 

this date, the Directors consider that any eventual liability related to such proceedings is 

deemed to be remote.” 

 

43. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

As informed on 3 February 2010, the subsidiary Isoroy SAS received an offer for acquisition 

of the Lure plant in France. In case of acceptance of this offer, the Group estimates that the 

transaction would have a positive impact on the shareholders’ funds. 

 

44. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and 

authorized for issuance on 24 February 2010. 

 


